
 
 

v1 2015 

AGENDA 
 

Meeting Police and Crime Committee 

Date Thursday 20 July 2017 

Time 10.00 am 

Place Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 
Walk, London, SE1 2AA 

Copies of the reports and any attachments may be found at  
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee  
 
Most meetings of the London Assembly and its Committees are webcast live at 
www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts where you can also view past 
meetings. 
 
Members of the Committee 
Steve O'Connell AM (Chairman) 
Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 

Len Duvall AM 
Florence Eshalomi AM 
Susan Hall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Peter Whittle AM 

 

A meeting of the Committee has been called by the Chairman of the Committee to deal with the 

business listed below.  

Ed Williams, Executive Director of Secretariat 
Wednesday 12 July 2017 

 
Further Information 
If you have questions, would like further information about the meeting or require special facilities 
please contact: Teresa Young; Telephone: 020 7983 6559; Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 
Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 
For media enquiries please contact Mary Dolan, External Relations Officer on 020 7983 4603.   
Email: mary.dolan@london.gov.uk.  If you have any questions about individual items please contact 
the author whose details are at the end of the report.  
 
This meeting will be open to the public, except for where exempt information is being discussed as 
noted on the agenda.  A guide for the press and public on attending and reporting meetings of local 
government bodies, including the use of film, photography, social media and other means is available 
at www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf.  
 
There is access for disabled people, and induction loops are available.  There is limited underground 
parking for orange and blue badge holders, which will be allocated on a first-come first-served basis.  
Please contact Facilities Management on 020 7983 4750 in advance if you require a parking space or 
further information. 

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/webcasts
mailto:mary.dolan@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/Openness-in-Meetings.pdf


 

 
Certificate Number: FS 80233 

If you, or someone you know, needs a copy of the agenda, minutes or reports 
in large print or Braille, audio, or in another language, then please call us on 
020 7983 4100 or email assembly.translations@london.gov.uk.   
 

 
 

mailto:assembly.translations@london.gov.uk


 

3 
 

Agenda 
Police and Crime Committee 
Thursday 20 July 2017 
 
 

1 Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements  
 
 To receive any apologies for absence and any announcements from the Chairman. 

 
 

2 Declarations of Interests (Pages 1 - 4) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, as disclosable pecuniary interests; 

 

(b) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests 

in specific items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the 

Member(s) regarding withdrawal following such declaration(s); and 

 

(c) Note the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be 

relevant (including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received 

which are not at the time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register 

of gifts and hospitality, and noting also the advice from the GLA’s 

Monitoring Officer set out at Agenda Item 2) and to note any necessary 

action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s). 
 
 

3 Minutes (Pages 5 - 46) 

 
 The Committee is recommended to confirm the minutes of the meeting of the Police 

and Crime Committee held on 21 June 2017 to be signed by the Chairman as a 

correct record. 
 

 The appendix to the minutes set out on pages 11 to 46 is attached for Members and officers 

only but is available from the following area of the GLA’s website: www.london.gov.uk/mayor-

assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


 

4 
 

4 Summary List of Actions (Pages 47 - 54) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to note the completed and ongoing actions arising 

from previous meetings of the Committee as listed in the report. 
 
 

5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Pages 55 - 76) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Teresa Young, teresa.young@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6559 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the recent action taken by the Chairman, Steve O’Connell AM, under 

delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead 

Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree the Committee’s 

summary of its work undertaken in the 2016-17 Assembly year; and 

 

(b) To note its report, Work of the Police and Crime Committee in 2016-17, 

attached at Appendix 1 to the report. 
 
 

6 Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 
Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Pages 77 - 88) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Becky Short, becky.short@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 4760 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Note the monthly report for the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

attached at Appendix 1 to the report, as background to the question and 

answer session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and the 

Metropolitan Police Service; and  

 

(b) Note the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service to the questions asked by 

Members. 
 
 

  
 
 

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk
mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


 

5 
 

7 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Pages 89 - 112) 

 
 Report of the Executive Director of Secretariat 

Contact: Janette Roker, janette.roker@london.gov.uk; 020 7983 6562 

 

The Committee is recommended to: 

 

(a) Agree its updated work programme as set out in the report; 

 

(b) Agree the terms of reference for its scrutiny review of Gun Crime in London, 

as set out in paragraph 4.6 of the report and the scoping paper, attached at 

Appendix 1 to the report; 

 

(c) Agree the terms of reference for its scrutiny review of Women Offenders in 

London, as set out in paragraph 4.8 of the report and the scoping paper, 

attached at Appendix 2 to the report; 
 

(d) Note the quarterly monitoring report attached at Appendix 3 to the report; 

and 

 

(e) Agree, in relation to urgent matters only, a general delegation of authority in 

respect of the Committee’s powers and functions (apart from those that 

cannot under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 be 

delegated) to the Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with party 

Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, from the close of this 

meeting until the next meeting of the Committee, scheduled for 

6 September 2017. 
 
 

8 Date of Next Meeting  
 
 The next meeting of the Committee is scheduled for Wednesday, 6 September 2017 at 10am 

in the Chamber, City Hall. 
 
 

9 Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent  
 
 
 

mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk  v1/2017 

 

Subject: Declarations of Interests 
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 20 July 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 
1. Summary  

 
1.1 This report sets out details of offices held by Assembly Members for noting as disclosable pecuniary 

interests and requires additional relevant declarations relating to disclosable pecuniary interests, and 

gifts and hospitality to be made. 

 
 
2. Recommendations  
 

2.1 That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table below, be noted 

as disclosable pecuniary interests1; 

2.2 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any disclosable pecuniary interests in specific 

items listed on the agenda and the necessary action taken by the Member(s) regarding 

withdrawal following such declaration(s) be noted; and 

2.3 That the declaration by any Member(s) of any other interests deemed to be relevant 

(including any interests arising from gifts and hospitality received which are not at the 

time of the meeting reflected on the Authority’s register of gifts and hospitality, and 

noting also the advice from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer set out at below) and any 

necessary action taken by the Member(s) following such declaration(s) be noted. 

 
3. Issues for Consideration  
 
3.1 Relevant offices held by Assembly Members are listed in the table overleaf: 

  

                                                 
1 The Monitoring Officer advises that: Paragraph 10 of the Code of Conduct will only preclude a Member from 
participating in any matter to be considered or being considered at, for example, a meeting of the Assembly, 
where the Member has a direct Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in that particular matter. The effect of this is 
that the ‘matter to be considered, or being considered’ must be about the Member’s interest. So, by way of 
example, if an Assembly Member is also a councillor of London Borough X, that Assembly Member will be 
precluded from participating in an Assembly meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about the 
Member’s role / employment as a councillor of London Borough X; the Member will not be precluded from 
participating in a meeting where the Assembly is to consider a matter about an activity or decision of London 
Borough X. 

 

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



        

 

 

Member Interest 

Tony Arbour AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Richmond 

Jennette Arnold OBE AM Committee of the Regions  

Gareth Bacon AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Bexley 

Shaun Bailey AM  

Sian Berry AM Member, LB Camden 

Andrew Boff AM Congress of Local and Regional Authorities (Council of 
Europe) 

Leonie Cooper AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Wandsworth 

Tom Copley AM  

Unmesh Desai AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Newham 

Tony Devenish AM Member, City of Westminster 

Andrew Dismore AM Member, LFEPA 

Len Duvall AM  

Florence Eshalomi AM Member, LB Lambeth 

Nicky Gavron AM  

Susan Hall AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Harrow 

David Kurten AM Member, LFEPA 

Joanne McCartney AM Deputy Mayor 

Steve O’Connell AM Member, LB Croydon  

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM  

Keith Prince AM Member, LB Redbridge 

Caroline Russell AM Member, LFEPA; Member, LB Islington 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM  

Navin Shah AM  

Fiona Twycross AM Chair, LFEPA; Chair of the London Local Resilience Forum 

Peter Whittle AM  
 

[Note: LB - London Borough; LFEPA - London Fire and Emergency Planning Authority.   
The appointments to LFEPA reflected above take effect as from 3 April 2017] 

 
3.2 Paragraph 10 of the GLA’s Code of Conduct, which reflects the relevant provisions of the Localism 

Act 2011, provides that:  
 

- where an Assembly Member has a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in any matter to be considered 
or being considered or at  

 

(i) a meeting of the Assembly and any of its committees or sub-committees; or  
 

(ii) any formal meeting held by the Mayor in connection with the exercise of the Authority’s 
functions  

 

- they must disclose that interest to the meeting (or, if it is a sensitive interest, disclose the fact 
that they have a sensitive interest to the meeting); and  

 

- must not (i) participate, or participate any further, in any discussion of the matter at the 
meeting; or (ii) participate in any vote, or further vote, taken on the matter at the meeting 

 

UNLESS 
 

- they have obtained a dispensation from the GLA’s Monitoring Officer (in accordance with 
section 2 of the Procedure for registration and declarations of interests, gifts and hospitality – 
Appendix 5 to the Code).    

 

3.3 Failure to comply with the above requirements, without reasonable excuse, is a criminal offence; as is 

knowingly or recklessly providing information about your interests that is false or misleading. 

Page 2



        

 

3.4 In addition, the Monitoring Officer has advised Assembly Members to continue to apply the test that 

was previously applied to help determine whether a pecuniary / prejudicial interest was arising - 

namely, that Members rely on a reasonable estimation of whether a member of the public, with 

knowledge of the relevant facts, could, with justification, regard the matter as so significant that it 

would be likely to prejudice the Member’s judgement of the public interest.  

3.5 Members should then exercise their judgement as to whether or not, in view of their interests and 

the interests of others close to them, they should participate in any given discussions and/or 

decisions business of within and by the GLA. It remains the responsibility of individual Members to 

make further declarations about their actual or apparent interests at formal meetings noting also 

that a Member’s failure to disclose relevant interest(s) has become a potential criminal offence. 

3.6 Members are also required, where considering a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person 

from whom they have received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25 within the 

previous three years or from the date of election to the London Assembly, whichever is the later, to 

disclose the existence and nature of that interest at any meeting of the Authority which they attend 

at which that business is considered.  

3.7 The obligation to declare any gift or hospitality at a meeting is discharged, subject to the proviso set 

out below, by registering gifts and hospitality received on the Authority’s on-line database. The on-

line database may be viewed here:  

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality.  

3.8 If any gift or hospitality received by a Member is not set out on the on-line database at the time of 

the meeting, and under consideration is a matter which relates to or is likely to affect a person from 

whom a Member has received a gift or hospitality with an estimated value of at least £25, Members 

are asked to disclose these at the meeting, either at the declarations of interest agenda item or when 

the interest becomes apparent.  

3.9 It is for Members to decide, in light of the particular circumstances, whether their receipt of a gift or 

hospitality, could, on a reasonable estimation of a member of the public with knowledge of the 

relevant facts, with justification, be regarded as so significant that it would be likely to prejudice the 

Member’s judgement of the public interest. Where receipt of a gift or hospitality could be so 

regarded, the Member must exercise their judgement as to whether or not, they should participate in 

any given discussions and/or decisions business of within and by the GLA. 

 

4. Legal Implications 
 

4.1 The legal implications are as set out in the body of this report. 

 
5. Financial Implications 
 

5.1 There are no financial implications arising directly from this report. 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

Page 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/gifts-and-hospitality
mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 4



 
 

 
 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

MINUTES 
 

Meeting: Police and Crime Committee 
Date: Wednesday 21 June 2017 
Time: 10.00 am 
Place: Chamber, City Hall, The Queen's 

Walk, London, SE1 2AA 
 
Copies of the minutes may be found at:  
http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee 

  

 
Present: 
 
Steve O'Connell AM (Chairman) 
Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair) 
Tony Arbour AM 
Unmesh Desai AM 
Andrew Dismore AM 
Len Duvall AM 
Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 
Dr Onkar Sahota AM 
Peter Whittle AM 
Susan Hall AM (attended as an observer) 
 
 

1   Apologies for Absence and Chairman's Announcements (Item 1) 

 

1.1 The Chairman welcomed Members, guests and members of the public and stated that before 

the Committee moved onto its formal business, he would invite everyone in the Chamber to 

stand and observe a minute’s silence in memory of the victims of the fire at Grenfell Tower 

and the terrorist attack at the Finsbury Park Mosque. 

 

1.2 Apologies for absence were received from Florence Eshalomi AM for whom 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM attended as a substitute. 
 

1.3 Susan Hall AM attended as an observer. 

 
 

Page 5

Agenda Item 3

http://www.london.gov.uk/mayor-assembly/london-assembly/police-and-crime-committee


Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 21 June 2017 

 

 
 

2   Declarations of Interests (Item 2) 

 

2.1 Resolved: 

 

That the list of offices held by Assembly Members, as set out in the table at 

Agenda Item 2, be noted as disclosable pecuniary interests.  

 
 
3   Membership of the Committee (Item 3) 

 

3.1 Resolved: 

 

 That the membership and chairing arrangements for the Police and Crime 

Committee, as agreed by the Annual Meeting of the London Assembly on 

3 May 2017 be noted, as follows: 

 

 Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman) 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair) 

Tony Arbour AM 

Unmesh Desai AM 

Andrew Dismore AM 

Len Duvall AM 

Florence Eshalomi AM 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

Peter Whittle AM 

 

3.2 There was a vacancy on the Committee following the resignation of Kemi Badenock MP from 

the London Assembly. 

 
 
4   Terms of Reference (Item 4) 

 

4.1 Resolved: 

 

 That the terms of reference, as agreed at the Annual Meeting of the London 

Assembly on 3 May 2017 as set at Agenda Item 4 for the meeting, be noted. 

 
 
 
 
 

Page 6



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 21 June 2017 

 

 
 

5   Standing Delegations of Authority (Item 5) 

 

5.1 Resolved: 

 

 That the standing delegation of authority to the Chairman of the Police and Crime 

Committee, as set out below, be noted. 

 

To respond on the Committee’s behalf, following consultation with the lead 

Members of the party Groups on the Committee, where it is consulted on issues by 

organisations and there is insufficient time to consider the consultation at a 

committee meeting. 

 
 
6   Minutes (Item 6) 

 

6.1 Resolved: 

 

That the minutes of the Police and Crime Committee meeting held on 

29 March 2017 be signed by the Chairman as a correct record. 

 
 
7   Summary List of Actions (Item 7) 

 

7.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

7.2 Resolved: 
 

That the outstanding and completed actions arising from the previous meetings of 

the Committee, as listed in the report, be noted. 

 
 
8   Action Taken Under Delegated Authority (Item 8) 

 

8.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

8.2  Resolved: 
 

That the recent actions taken by the Chairman, Steve O’Connell AM, under 

delegated authority, following consultation with the party Group Lead Members 

and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree the terms of reference and scope 

for the Committee’s first thematic meeting of the 2017-18 Assembly year on 5 July 

2017, which would be used for a discussion with invited guests on tackling 

antisocial behaviour be noted. 

 

Page 7



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 21 June 2017 

 

 
 

 
9   Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and 

Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service (Item 9) 

 

9.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat as background to 

the question and answer session with the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) 

and the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS). 

 

9.2 The Chairman welcomed the following guests to the meeting: 

 Sophie Linden, Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime;  

 Cressida Dick CBE QPM, Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis; and 

 Craig Mackey QPM, Deputy Commissioner, MPS. 

 

9.3 A transcript of the discussion is attached at Appendix 1. 

 

9.4 During the course of the discussion, the MPS undertook to: 

 Provide data on the number of websites that the MPS has taken down to date as part 

of its counter terrorism work; 

 Confirm the proportion of police officers in response teams that will have Taser 

following the increase in Tasers announced on 20 June 2017; and 

 Provide a weblink for the operational guidelines on the use of Taser. 

 

9.5 The Commissioner invited the Committee to observe Taser training.  She also undertook to 

review the issue raised of complaints about the length of time it took on occasions for phone 

calls to be answered on the non-emergency number for the police service. 

 

9.6 During the discussion, the Committee was informed that the Home Office had withdrawn the 

review of the Police Funding Formula but that the MPS was nevertheless facing a flat cash 

funding settlement which was of great concern to the Committee.  The Chairman, therefore, 

stated that he would consult with party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

about writing to the Government to reiterate the Committee’s agreed position that the MPS 

should be adequately funded to reflect the full range of its responsibilities. 

 

9.7 At the end of the discussion the Chairman thanked the guests for their attendance and 

helpful contributions. 

 

9.8 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime, 

attached at Appendix 1 of the report, be noted. 

 

Page 8



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 21 June 2017 

 

 
 

(b) That the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime and the MPS to the questions asked by Members be noted. 

 
 
10   Police and Crime Committee Work Programme (Item 10) 

 

10.1 The Committee received the report of the Executive Director of Secretariat. 

 

10.2 Resolved: 

 

(a) That the remainder of the Committee’s meeting dates in the 2017/18 

Assembly year, as set out in paragraph 3.4 of the report, be noted. 

 

(b) That the Committee’s work programme, as set out in paragraphs 4.1 to 4.5 of 

the report, be agreed. 
 

(c) That authority be delegated to the Committee’s Chairman, 

Steve O’Connell AM, in consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM to agree an annual report summarising the work of 

the Committee over the past year. 

 
 
11   Date of Next Meeting (Item 11) 

 

11.1 The date of the next meeting was scheduled for Wednesday, 5 July 2017 at 10.00am in the 

Chamber, City Hall. 

 
 
12   Any Other Business the Chairman Considers Urgent (Item 12) 

 

12.1 There was no other business the Chairman considered urgent. 

 
 
13   Close of Meeting 

 

13.1 The meeting ended at 12.17pm. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 9



Greater London Authority 
Police and Crime Committee 

Wednesday 21 June 2017 

 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 

   

Chairman  Date 
 
Contact Officer: Teresa Young; Telephone: 020 7983 6559;  

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk; Minicom: 020 7983 4458 
 

Page 10



 

 

Appendix 1 
 

Police and Crime Committee - Wednesday, 21 June 2017 
 

Transcript of Item 9 - Question and Answer Session with the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the 

Metropolitan Police Service 
 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Welcome very much this morning to Cressida [Dick CBE QPM, 

Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis] and Craig [Mackey QPM, Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police 

Service], who is a regular attendee and Deputy Mayor [for Policing and Crime] Sophie Linden. 

 

The first question that I will kick off with, if I may, is around protecting London from terrorism.  It is direct to 

the Commissioner.  Following the recent terror attacks, particularly the London Bridge attack and indeed the 

very recent Finsbury Park Mosque attack, would you kindly provide us with an update on the current 

counterterrorism investigations, if you can? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Yes, indeed.  Thank you very 

much indeed, Chairman.  I start first of all by of course, as we have acknowledged with our minute’s silence, 

recognising the dreadful loss of life and the number of people whose lives have been turned upside down by 

the events in London and indeed in Manchester over the last several weeks. 

 

Secondly, I would also of course like to pay tribute to Craig [Mackey QPM, Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan 

Police Service].  Since you last met I started and the Deputy Commissioner, as he now is again, performed a 

fantastic role in the interim between [Sir] Bernard [Hogan-Howe QPM, former Commissioner of Police of the 

Metropolis] and me and indeed in his support to the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS) and to Bernard for 

many years before.  A huge thank you to Craig and, as you would know, I am thoroughly enjoying working with 

him.  Our ability to respond to the various incidents of course is in no small part to the very hard work that has 

gone on over many years before. 

 

Turning to the terrible events at London Bridge, as you know, a number of people were arrested.  They have all 

subsequently been released.  We do have a very large investigation that continues.  This might be a moment 

for me to pay tribute again not just to officers but to members of the public who were so extraordinarily 

courageous on the night.  You will be aware that we had many hundreds of officers there and well over 1,000 

in fact at the scene or in the immediate surrounds subsequently.  As an example, the Counter Terrorism (CT) 

Command for seven days had 600 officers every day.  It is not just police officers; it is also members of our 

forensic staff, for example, lots of police staff engaged in various different ways. 

 

It remains a very large investigation.  We are of course working very closely with the Coroner and to the 

Coroner.  If I give you an example of scale, we have incurred to date overtime of about £1.2 million and that 

will increase.  We have seized 4,100 exhibits.  You will be aware that we carried out a large number of 

operations in the days afterwards.  That is what I might start by saying about Southwark.  There may be  

follow-up questions, I understand. 

 

In relation to the terrible events just a couple of days ago in Finsbury Park, I do need to be careful, of course 

because, as you know, we have somebody in custody.  He is a person for whom a warrant of further detention 

has just been obtained and he is in custody for section 411, which is of course a terrorist offence and includes 

                                                 
1 Section 41 of the Terrorism Act 2000. 

Page 11



 

 

murder and attempted murder.  This incident was declared a terrorist incident seven minutes after it happened.  

Very sadly, as you know, we have one person who is deceased and we continue our investigation to establish 

exactly how he came to his death.  We have carried out a special post mortem and we are working very closely 

with his family and indeed with all the people who were injured and their families. 

 

You will be aware that between the first event and the second we have, of course, had the Grenfell [Tower] fire 

and that is a further very significant major incident.  As you know, we believe something like - but it will not be 

exactly this - at the moment 79 people may have lost their lives.  Five of those people have been identified and 

we are carrying out an investigation which consists of us, the London Fire Brigade and the expert independent 

buildings examiners.  Again, we have very significant Family Liaison Officer deployments to that incident.  

Everybody whom we believe may be deceased, their families we are working with and also very closely with the 

12 who have been in hospital, together with much support to the wider community. 

 

On that investigation, we currently have 260 officers dealing with the main investigation and the disaster 

victim identification.  On the night, we deployed well over 150 into the scene.  Every day we have a very large 

number on the cordons, hundreds.  It started at a couple of hundred; it has come back down. 

 

These three events were absolutely ghastly for London and very large-scale.  We are progressing large-scale 

investigations.  We recognise entirely that in their different ways they have caused enormous concern to 

communities.  We are doing our very level best to work closely with all our communities, with our local 

communities, to be engaging and speaking in every forum we can think of.  Also, we have a very big 

prerogative now to protect London going forward.  As well as normal business, if I might call it that, it is the 

summertime and we have lots of events, we have had the elections, we have the opening of Parliament today, 

we have protests and demonstrations and of course, we are coming up to Id.  We are fully alert to all of this. 

 

I will finish by simply saying that it has been a whole-MPS response, supported by our communities and 

supported by all of you and other politicians in other ways.  We have been overwhelmed by public support and, 

if anything, I would just describe the MPS as steely in its determination and full of resolve.  People want to do 

this work.  They wish it had not happened but, if it has happened, they want to be there.  I can speak for all of 

the retired community as well because they are all contacting us and saying, “How can I help?  I wish I was 

there”.  There is a lot to do but you have a fantastically capable police service and we work incredibly closely, 

as you know, with the agencies and with the Government. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thank you, Commissioner.  That is very reassuring and you can be assured 

of the support of this Committee in your work.  I am also agreeing with your sentiments at this difficult and 

busy time. 

 

You talked about how it is a whole-MPS response.  I would be interested in your co-working with, for example, 

the City of London [Police] and the British Transport Police (BTP) as well because it is part of the same 

footprint.  Can you give us some feeling about how that is working at this time as well? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Absolutely.  I am conscious that I 

am here in support of the Deputy Mayor but, nevertheless, forgive me for not mentioning the BTP and the City 

of London Police, which have been absolutely integral to our ability to respond and of course in relation to 

London Bridge in particular, but not just that.  They have been absolutely up at the front end of the response 

and in our Gold control room setup at all stages.  In terms of the first initial response and secondly how we now 

protect London, it is a totally integrated set of operations.  The Commissioner of the City [of London Police] 

and the Chief Constable of the BTP and I are speaking all the time.  We are very content with our 

Page 12



 

 

interoperability and our co-working.  Of course, you will be well aware that, sadly, probably the most seriously 

injured of the officers was indeed a BTP Officer. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Indeed.  There will be some questions later linked to resources and 

funding of resources. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Of course. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is coming along a little bit later, but I want to look at and ask some 

questions around investigative resources, in essence, post-event - detectives doing the work after the event, 

the resources with these extreme events and the ability for that piece of work to be carried out - and then, 

secondly, connected but separate, your resources around intelligence-gathering in preventing events.  It is the 

post and prior pieces, both around resources and both, I would suggest, heavily under pressure at the moment 

by the nature of events.  Could you comment around your satisfaction or confidence that you have resources 

in both those separate spheres? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  As a Committee, I know you are 

very well aware that the MPS flexes and surges all day long tactically and indeed every week, every month, 

every year, we change shape a bit.  We are very capable of doing that and we are very capable at knowing 

where our people are and what their skills are, what the priorities are and where we are going to put people. 

 

We work incredibly closely, of course, with the national police CT network.  This set of events, in terms of our 

processes, if you like, is being dealt with in a similar way.  However, of course, they are very large scale and I 

have given you some idea - and I can do more on that if you like - of the scale.  These are very large-scale 

responses for us. 

 

We have done this against the background, as you know, of some rising demand in terms of our emergency 

calls, crime more generally, knife crime in particular and indeed, in the last two months, a level of homicide 

that is higher than was the average last year, for a start.  We have to look very hard at who is doing what and 

what effort and which of our most skilled investigators we are putting into which aspects of each case. 

 

I mentioned, for example, that the Grenfell fire is taking 260, in essence, detectives.  That is needed.  It will not 

be like that forever, but it will be there for a long time and that is a big demand. 

 

The CT network is certainly stretched.  Before 12 weeks ago, they had a set of people and they still have that 

set of people across the country, in essence.  They have now had four major attacks to deal with and have also 

disrupted a number - I think five - other plots.  Those all take, as you say, a great deal of backward-looking 

investigative resource and takes potentially, away from some of the proactive and forward-looking intelligence 

work.  We have supplemented the national CT network from some of our crime resources nationally and in 

London and we need to do that. 

 

We are shifting resources across and people across the MPS.  This does have an impact on other, for example, 

investigations.  We have had to pause some; we have had to slow down on some.  That is just a necessity. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I guess, as you said, the MPS has been malleable to the degree that it 

moves where the demand is within its capacity. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Yes. 

 

Page 13



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I guess the worry here that concerns us is that it becomes a tipping point 

where, because of the pressures, you just do not have that capacity to move and to cover as well as you can 

and, with this level of events, that might be an issue. 

 

The other part of the question, which you have touched upon, is the preventative piece, which is about 

information that the public are giving not just to the MPS but also to MI5 and MI6.  One of my colleagues - I 

think Andrew Boff [AM] - asked that we ask the question.  It was around the recent attacks.  There has been 

anecdotal evidence of information given previously.  We will not go into detail and name names, but there was 

concern raised in this Chamber about the capacity and the ability of the services, shall we say, to absorb and 

act upon information given to them by the public. 

 

In the context of what you have just said, would you like to comment on that strain and test? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I would continue to say to the 

public: please contact us if you have any concerns at all.  Be vigilant.  If you see something that worries you, if 

you see somebody’s behaviour changing, if you are concerned about an individual or an event, you must tell 

us.  We do respond and will continue so to do to every single - for example - call to the CT hotline and those 

are thoroughly investigated and dealt with.  We cannot always tell the person what happened and sometimes, 

of course, it will not result in, for example, somebody being arrested because it will fit into a wider picture of 

intelligence. 

 

It is also the case that the Government has made it clear that there is going to be a good, long, hard look at 

the whole terrorist strategy.  We are working really closely with the Government and we are looking forward to 

what comes out of that.  Also, because of the various attacks, we will be working with the agencies to ensure 

that we can give a good account of what was known and what was not known and what happened, for 

example, to the Intelligence Security Committee, to a Coroner’s inquest or to other judicial inquiries.  I know I 

can say that both the police CT network and MI5 are looking at our machinery, if I can put it that way, to 

ensure that we have the best possible ability in our technology, in our analysis and in our risk-based decision-

making to try to deal with all this information in the most effective way. 

 

However, as my colleague Mark Rowley QPM [Assistant Commissioner for Specialist Operations, MPS] has said 

on more than one occasion, when you are dealing - as we have been some of the time recently - with people 

who may be lone actors, people who are quite alone people, to know when something has changed in their 

heads so that they are now prepared, not just expressing views that you and I would say were absolutely vile 

but actually they are now going to do something violent or murderous and they are going to be happy to be 

killed, it is often very hard to know that. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We understand that.  It is that speed of movement from when it is really 

just a thought in an individual’s mind to that person taking action. 

 

My last question before we move on to the next set - and it may be that Craig might want to comment on it - 

was on the tactic used across the way about ‘run, hide and tell’ that was operating very much on the night of 

the London Bridge attacks.  Craig, do you want to comment - or anybody comment - on the effectiveness of 

that and how that worked? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  By all means.  It is a tactic 

and it is a decision made very quickly.  On that night, it was done quite quickly in the control room.  It is about 

the safety of the public.  We have done a lot of work on this in the last number of years and I know a number 

Page 14



 

 

of Members have seen some of the exercises around these sorts of attacks that we have done and run through.  

It really is taking the learning from those to ask, “What is the most effective thing people can do?” 

 

We saw some really good examples of that, some of it out on social media with people putting out stuff very 

quickly about what was going on.  With all the attacks that we have seen over the last couple of months, we 

have seen that advantage of the presence in social media very quickly and the ability to get messages out and 

also to get information back from the public.  The public, as the Commissioner has covered, are just incredibly 

willing to be involved, be part of it and try to help.  That is a real strength from these events. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Deputy Mayor, just briefly, were you ever sighted on this tactic?  Is it 

something that you support in the way that was carried out with that particular attack? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes, absolutely, in terms of the plans and the 

operational emergency planning, absolutely, yes, sighted on that.  However, on the night, these were 

operational decisions taken, rightly, at that stage. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Thanks very much.  The next set of questions? 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Thank you, Chairman.  Deputy Mayor, can I ask you about the report by Lord [Toby] 

Harris [An Independent Review of London’s Preparedness to Respond to a Major Terrorist Incident] that was 

published last year in October [2016]?  We were told that there was a formal response to the report and its 

recommendation.  Why has the response not yet been published? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  You are right.  The Harris review was published 

last October and, in terms of getting on with implementing the recommendations in the report, we have 

absolutely been getting on with that.  About a third of the recommendations have been taken on board and 

have been implemented. 

 

In terms of publishing the recommendations, we were on track to publish one and then the general election 

was called.  Since then, I am sure you will understand that we have been really focused on the implementation 

of the recommendations.  We are looking to publish an annual report in October [2017] about how far the 

recommendations of the Harris report have been taken. 

 

Of course, you will know also that there were many recommendations, the majority of which were focused on 

other organisations as well as the Government.  We have been actively pursuing those and making sure that 

they are taken on board. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Sorry.  Could I just get this right?  There will be an annual report coming out in October, 

did you say? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We hope to publish an annual report in October.  

We were on track to publish an interim report on how far we had got, but the general election was called.  We 

have been focusing on implementing the recommendations.  As I am sure you will understand, that continues 

to be our focus.  We have activated a third of those recommendations.  The majority of the recommendations 

were not for City Hall but for other organisations including the Government and we are actively pursuing those 

as well. 

 

Page 15



 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Can I just move on?  Lord Harris also had something to say about the Mayor’s Office for 

Policing and Crime (MOPAC).  Can you explain to us the structure of MOPAC in terms of who has responsibility 

for issues related to CT as things stand at present? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I chair the CONTEST Board, which brings 

together the agencies looking at our response and our position in terms of CT with Prevent, Protect and those 

elements.  Ultimately, in terms of that, that would be me.  I chair the CONTEST Board and I get advice from 

the Chief Executive. 

 

We have a lot of expertise within MOPAC on CT and on the relationship between CT and the whole system of 

policing because of course CT is not just about the CT capacity and capability of the MPS but also about the 

system including neighbourhood policing and - you have asked previously about intelligence gathering - how 

that intelligence can come from the communities into the police and into CT as well. 

 

Unmesh Desai AM:  Lord Harris was very specific.  He felt that dedicated CT advice to the Mayor and MOPAC 

outside the police is lacking.  One of his recommendations was for an advisor on CT to be appointed to sit 

within MOPAC.  What do you make of that? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  In terms of that specific recommendation, we are 

still looking at that.  We have extremely good expert advice on CT not just within MOPAC but also from regular 

briefings from [Assistant Commissioner] Mark Rowley QPM, the head of the CT Command in the MPS.  We are 

looking at that.  If we feel that that would add value to the structures and expertise and advice that comes in, 

we will take that forward. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Good morning, Commissioner.  Congratulations, by the way, on your appointment. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Thank you. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Can you tell me, with the state of the threats, what kind of difference this is going to 

make to large-scale events in London?  We have just had one.  I went to watch the Trooping the Colour, for 

example, on Saturday, but we have things like the Notting Hill Carnival coming up imminently.  What are the 

particular changes that we will see as a result of the new and intensified threat? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We have a delicate balance to 

draw here.  On the one hand, those of us who have lived and worked in this city all our lives, pretty much, are 

very proud and hold very dear the fact that it is extraordinarily resilient and we carry on and we do not give in 

to terrorists who want us to get us to change our way of life. 

 

After the London Bridge attack, as you know, on the Monday morning, London Bridge Station was open, 

visitors were flooding through London and people working likewise, and we were keeping them safe.  There 

were some visible changes; for example, the protection on the bridges that came in in the following few days.  

The Queen’s Birthday Parade that you mentioned went ahead.  The election went ahead.  The Cricket World 

Cup went ahead.  I could go on.  Everything carried on and the vast majority of them were enjoyed in exactly 

the same way as they always have been with relatively little extra disruption to people. 

 

However, there was some extra disruption and a change in some ways to the look and feel.  For example, in the 

Queen’s Birthday Parade down the Mall, this year for the first time - and I do not say it will always be like this - 

the [Police] Officers who were looking at the crowds were all dressed in their full protective equipment with 

their batons and CS [gas].  In previous years they have been in their tunics and their white gloves.  This was a 

Page 16



 

 

decision by Gold, entirely hers to make, based on her understanding of the potential threat and what they 

might be called upon to do. 

 

There are some changes and you can see signs of increased armed patrolling, increased officer patrolling and in 

some places different search regimes.  We do that on a case-by-case, event-by-event dynamic.  What is the 

current threat?  What is the intelligence?  What do we think? 

 

Clearly, we are all thinking about our big events in London when we have large gatherings of crowds and one 

of those is Notting Hill.  I am working very closely with the Deputy Mayor [for Policing and Crime] and also 

with the Mayor on our preparations for the Carnival.  We have a CT security advisor, who is working pretty 

much fulltime on how we secure the Carnival and what measures need to be put in place.  We put some in 

place last year, which were different and very specifically CT measures, and there may well be others this year. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  That is very reassuring to know.  The public as well would probably quite like to see some 

reassuring signs of an increased presence or whatever, but what I was thinking was - perhaps I could ask you, 

Deputy Mayor, as well - in terms of these big events like Notting Hill particularly coming up and also the 

[Queen’s] Birthday Parade. 

 

People are coming at the event from everywhere.  There is no entry point, as it were.  When I went there on a 

Saturday, I was with a friend who had a big bag and at no point was it searched or whatever.  You might say, 

“How could it be?”  Would there some sort of way in which there could be formal entries to these things so 

that people would have to go through, if you like, a police entrance, even to big informal public events such as 

this?  Is that a possibility? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I can tell you that there are some 

public events where we have already gone from no searching to searching.  That is certainly something we will 

consider and do.  In fact, we did not in our introduction mention the move to ‘critical’ after the Manchester 

attack, which of course did change the look and feel rather a lot in London because we had, for a very short 

period of time, soldiers replacing some of our armed officers and the public could see them.  Throughout 

London at that point, institutions - no doubt including this one, if I can call it an institution - were putting in 

place extra measures.  They were out the front here.  Regimes were tightened up. 

 

What I am saying is that that is a possibility, but we have to look at the current threat, the current intelligence, 

what will keep people safe and whether whichever thing we are thinking of is a practical tactic in these 

circumstances.  Absolutely, searching is one thing we often put in place and will do in the future. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Can I just ask one more question?  It might sound a silly question but, given the nature of 

the particular terrorism at the moment, is it true to say that big public events such as we are talking about are 

on pretty much a par with almost any other public situation?  Are they particularly targeted by these terrorists?  

I would have thought not.  It tends to be quite random. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  In the past, certainly, some large 

public events in other countries have very clearly been targeted and what we do know is that a large public 

event by definition usually provides a large crowd.  Even for the type of threat that you are talking about - and 

of course we do have a multiplicity of threats, although we are very focused at the moment on what has 

happened in the last few weeks, of course, and the people we know about who have caused those attacks – 

12 weeks ago, the CT network was already working at a very high state of alert and looking at a wide range of 

threats.  We need to look at the current picture all the time but not forget some of the threats that perhaps 

people would have been thinking about a few months ago.  They have not gone away.  We need to protect 

Page 17



 

 

against all of them.  In essence, a large public event is a large crowd and it does appear from these ghastly 

things we have seen in the last few weeks that a crowd is potentially vulnerable. 

 

Peter Whittle AM:  Thank you very much. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Before we go on to the next question, over the summer the Committee 

will be seeking probably from you, Craig [Mackey], some private briefings in anticipation of Notting Hill and 

that is something we can arrange to give reassurance.   

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Yes, thank you.  First of all, I would like to thank the police for everything you 

are doing. I went to Finsbury Park last night and met the community and they were grateful for what you did 

on the night and also your response since. 

 

What I want to understand is that you have said, Commissioner, that you are dealing with people who appear 

very volatile and unstable and are using low-tech methods.  Going forward, what implications do you think this 

changing nature of terror has for how the police and other services work to prevent extremism? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I have mentioned the review that 

the Government has announced and a very large focus of that will be on prevention.  I do not mean preventing 

the attack; I mean preventing people becoming violent extremists and intercepting them as they are beginning 

to think about actual serious violence. 

 

The key to this for me is absolutely within our communities.  The Deputy Mayor [for Policing and Crime] has 

already mentioned the wider part of policing that plays such a role in countering terrorism.  I know that Craig 

[Mackey] has said this before but it bears repetition: after an attack, at least half and usually two thirds of the 

people who are deployed to deal with it are not from the CT network; they are from general policing.  I would 

say the same about the preventative work.  It is very hard to measure.  It is very hard to put a finger on.  The 

vital importance of what our Neighbourhood Officers and our links with the communities provide we need to 

build on.  We need to get messaging out to communities.  We are seeing in many communities people being 

absolutely outraged and standing up and condemning in a way perhaps they might not have felt able to do in 

the past.  We are having people calling the hotline more and more.  We are getting more information from our 

communities.  We need to work harder and harder at that. 

 

I do not want to start a great debate here.  I know that the Prevent programme itself is quite controversial in 

many respects.  However, it has had some fantastic successes with some individuals, not least right-wing 

extremists.  Something like 30% of Channel referrals are domestic extremism referrals, which is something that 

people in our wider communities do not always know about or hear.  They have had some great successes.  For 

me, the big work has to go on in our communities. 

 

There is then some stuff around, for example, how we constantly put out advice around things like the 

precursors people might have used for creating an improvised explosive device, how we regulate that and how 

we get people to give us information if somebody does something odd there.  We are thinking at the moment - 

and it is very hard - about how we can deal with van hire.  We have sent a message to the hire community to 

say, “Please be careful.  Think who it is.  If there is anything suspicious, let us know”.  Should that be regulated 

in any further way? 

 

There is a whole big review to be done.  It might require some legislation.  I do not know.  It might require 

some tweaking of legislation.  However, for me, it is in the communities. 

 

Page 18



 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Thank you for that.  Reviewing the Prevent bit is really important.  We did some 

work a year or two ago on this Committee which we might want to revisit because there were some 

recommendations there that may feed into that review. 

 

You mentioned - and the Chairman touched on it earlier - the anti-terrorism hotline.  I understand that there 

were more than twice the number of calls it has had in the previous 12 months with 22,000 people making 

contact.  However, questions have been raised about how that information is used.  You said that they respond 

to every call to the hotline.  With that sort of volume, are you really able to do that? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We absolutely log every call, keep 

a record of every call, assess every call and take action.  Clearly, as I said, we cannot always tell people what 

that action was.  I do not want to discourage anybody at all, but sometimes it is actually repeat information or 

even information that, as soon as we look at it, we realise is completely misguided or the person who rang us 

has got in a complete muddle.  That is rare and basically, yes, we do deal with all of them.  We do that at the 

time.  Sometimes it is that vital information that is actually going to influence today’s operation and so we 

must do that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  What about the allegations with the recent incidents that members of the 

public say that they made contact about recent attackers and it was not used? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  There will of course be thorough 

reviews of what has happened, but my information at the moment is that the calls that were made were, as far 

as we can possibly tell, logged properly, assessed properly and dealt with properly.  I probably should not say 

any more than that at this stage.  There will be further reviews of everything, I am sure. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  That is helpful.  Thank you very much. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Can we turn to the world of encryption and social media and the police’s view on that and 

the stances they may take, whether it is the Association of Chief Police Officers (ACPO) or whether it is a MPS 

view?  I have asked you, Craig, before and so just remind us.  What is the police stance around the debate on 

the use of social media in radicalisation and moving from passive support to being prepared to take an act of 

violence?  Our views have changed over the years.  What would the police be asking of the Government?  Is 

there an official line? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You will be aware that it is 

back on as a very current debate again at the moment about where it should be.  When we talked about this 

before, we spoke about some of those issues with companies and with organisations and getting that right 

balance between the freedoms that we expect as a society and also those powers and the regulatory 

framework we need as a police service to carry out investigations.  There are challenges for us with that 

increasing level of encryption and modern technology.  It is the part of the work we have talked about before 

about making sure we are in the right position to be able to tackle those issues.  One: we have the 

technological capability.  Two: we have a legal framework that allows us to do them and actually is 

technologically capable of being able to do it because, with some of this encryption, it is not.  That is the bit 

that we are working on at the moment to develop that position. 

 

We have spoken before about the challenge with working with some of the companies that have worldwide 

footprints and our ability to influence from within the United Kingdom (UK).  The debate is moving.  That 

would be my sense from everything we are picking up.  That debate is moving with the organisations if you 

look at some of the stuff that has been reported quite recently about how some of the technology companies 

Page 19



 

 

are responding and recognising those issues.  Out of some of these terrible events may come some real 

opportunities to say, “We need a different debate about how we work in that space”. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Is it going to happen fast enough?  If you are in crisis and you are fighting ever-changing 

moving challenges around CT and some of those issues, is there not the need for speed? 

 

Let us separate out the issues with the role of social media.  There is an element of the right to free speech, 

but we know that individuals, particularly those lone wolves, if we can call them that, have access to those bits, 

never mind the dark web but some of the mainstream social media, about either something that radicalises 

them or how to make weapons that can hurt and wound and cause destruction. 

 

Where are we?  Take us through the social media bit.  How quickly do you think we could move, in terms of 

the incidents we have had, to a sensible response from the operators of those sites in terms of dealing with 

those aspects if there is an official representation that says, “This is not right, this should be dealt with and this 

should be taken down”? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I do not have that data with 

me.  We have previously discussed it and I have shared it with you before.  To reassure, we do that at the 

moment.  There are teams of people when stuff is reported to us.  I do not have - but I am quite happy to 

share with you in writing afterwards - the number of sites we and other parts of the organisation take down 

when they see stuff.  That debate has moved and some of the big social media companies, certainly in the last 

month, have started to talk much more about how quickly they will take these things down as they are 

identified. 

 

However, there are two distinct parts to the question that you identify.  There is the issue of communication in 

social media between people and there is the issue of what I would call promotion videos, how-to books, 

cookbooks and those sorts of things.  We have an awful lot of work going on about how we take that down. 

 

The communication bit is the next challenge.  As part of the review the Commissioner talked about, part of the 

work that will go on across the UK Government is about how we properly operate in that space, what the legal 

framework is and also what the levers are.  With some of this technology, it is very difficult to get into that 

communication bit. 

 

I would just encourage people.  If you are on a social media site and you see stuff on there that is wrong, they 

all now have a ‘report’ button and things do happen.  We spoke before about some of the work we have done 

with the Digital 101 pilot.  When we stepped into the social media space, having a virtual police officer on that 

‘street’ moderated behaviour.  You will see us increasingly doing that as part of the prevention work and 

tackling this. 

 

We will come up against some legal challenges with some of these global companies, but if ever there is an 

opportunity, now is the time to do it. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  If we can go back to the issue of the communication then between individuals or groups that 

want to cause harm to us, in that sense, will we be seeing - or is this going on - lobbying and representations 

to the Government about the powers the police may need and maybe the intelligence services - or maybe they 

are as one - to make us safer? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We talk all the time about 

those powers.  You will be aware that with some of the recent Bills that came through under the last 

Page 20



 

 

Parliament there was a very big debate about how far we can go and where we can go, but then there is also 

that bit at the end that is quite frustrating.  We might want to go there but do we have the technical capability 

to be able to do that?  That is a very live debate and we have people, both in the CT world and elsewhere, who 

nationally all the time are saying, “This is what is happening and this is what is going on”. 

 

As I said, the other bit with that is that that technology is moving far faster than legal frameworks.  You have 

heard us talk in the past about the challenge of - we use the phrase - ‘going dark’ when there are bits of 

information or intelligence that we literally cannot access.  That will be an increasing challenge.  Technology 

moves faster than the legal framework in which we operate. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We are going to move away for the moment from the specific subject 

around terrorism, although clearly the Committee will be here to scrutinise and support you as we continue. 

 

Now we are moving to priorities for you, Cressida, as the new Commissioner.   

Len Duvall AM:  Commissioner, can you set out your vision and priorities for the MPS under your tenure? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Yes.  I have come in as 

Commissioner, which I would say is the best job in the world.  I am incredibly privileged to be doing it and I am 

taking on an organisation that faces challenges, of course, on a number of different fronts but it has - and has 

shown over the last few weeks - incredible people, incredible professionalism, wonderful values and a very 

powerful history of learning and learning and learning from what has gone on.  I do believe, as I said, that this 

is the greatest global city and it is served by the best police service in the world.  It is not perfect and there are 

many things we need to improve and indeed to change. 

 

My three priorities are, firstly, under the banner of public confidence.  Public confidence is very high in the 

police.  Support from the public is generally very high and even more so after the last few weeks, as I have 

said.  However, I am conscious that we have parts of some of our communities that have lower confidence and 

I want to reduce that gap, particularly amongst some of our minority ethnic and most deprived communities 

and, secondly, amongst some of our young people.  I want to improve the confidence of young people in their 

police service. 

 

Within public confidence, of course, are the operational priorities.  For me, this is primarily about violence.  We 

have the Police and Crime Plan and we will be working to that, but within that terrorism, obviously, and it has 

come into even sharper focus in the last few weeks; knife and gun crime but in particular knife crime is a very 

big challenge for us at the moment that is simply too high and I want to bear down on; and violence against 

women and girls, if I could put it that way, and vulnerable people more broadly.  In all cases, it is about 

reducing the crime and the threat - and terrorism is a crime, of course - and, secondly, trying to support people 

who become victims as best we possibly can as the police and we have only a partial role in that but to give 

them as good a service as we can, and of course bring people to justice whenever we can. 

 

I want to move us towards prevention and to get, as they say, upstream as far as possible.  A lot of the work 

we are doing around, for example, vulnerable people and victimisation is about trying to get upstream.  

Therefore, that is my first category. 

 

My second category is about my people or our people in the MPS.  I want them to feel that they are as 

well led, as well equipped and as well supported as they can be, that they have discretion, that they have the 

Page 21



 

 

agency, that they can take their assessment of risk and get on and make decisions and, when they have done 

that in good faith, that they feel supported. 

 

Thirdly, we need to transform for the future.  We have some financial challenges, but we also have a 

requirement to transform in a variety of different ways, not least to become a 21st-century police service, 

making the best of technology and data, and we have a lot going on in that at the moment as you know. 

 

When I spoke to my Management Board when I started and to several other people, I have said consistently 

that, events aside, this five years - which I hope it will be - will be defined by our ability to create the MPS of 

the future and to transform.  Of course, we have a lot of events, ghastly events, and a changing understanding 

of the terrorist threat, but I still stand by: we must push forward with our changing for the future, our 

transformation programme, and we have to do that within our financial envelope, whatever that ends up being. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  On your tour of the boroughs - and I know that you have done many and I was there at your 

first one at Lewisham - what do you think has been the central theme that has come back from the workforce 

about the job?  Is there a central message that has come back or a number of messages that have not shocked 

you but have made you say, “That is interesting.  I never thought of it like that”, or, “I did think of it but not in 

those terms”? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  On the one hand I should not be 

surprised, but there is incredible pride in what they do and in what we do and in what their colleagues have 

done, not least the amazing courage and professionalism in the face of events and the ability of the MPS to 

just get on with it.  Pride is strong. 

 

If I am honest, having been a candidate and talked to people, I was quite surprised on the other side of the 

equation by the enormous sense of demand that officers have, particularly in relation to emergency response 

and handling calls.  You will be aware that that has gone up 30% in the last two years.  It is a very big stretch 

for them. 

 

Also, it is just such a professional service compared with 15 years ago or when I joined 30-something years 

ago.  The expectations across the board of high-quality performance are very high and bear down on people 

when they are managing a multiplicity of demands and risk and they feel that they have to reach this platinum 

standard or otherwise they are going potentially to be investigated or dealt with in some way.  That is pushing 

a lot of pressure on them.  I am concerned about that. 

 

Finally, I would just say that they are so keen, despite the fact that this is a busy city and there is always a lot 

going on, they are just so keen to continue having, genuinely, a highly effective relationship with the public 

and they want us to do that. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  In terms of what the police exist for, that response, that emergency, that is what you do and 

you do it really well.  As an organisation that has to transform and change, do you think it is a listening 

organisation? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  In what sense, sorry? 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Managers listening to managers and managers listening to various levels, and we can talk 

about leadership at various levels if you want. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Sure. 

Page 22



 

 

 

Len Duvall AM:  In terms of circumstances, everyone has that sometimes when the boss does not listen, even 

probably at senior level, in terms of conversations with each other, but  

sSome of the mixed messages over the years that we have had about the MPS on some of the issues and some 

of the communication problems, or when we are introducing change that do we really pick up, is the imperative 

to make the change happen regardless, when we say we are going to make this change and then we never 

come off because of what the evidence suggests or we come off a number of years later and we reverse the 

trend that we were moving into? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  There are a number of things 

happening here.  Firstly, it is a very busy organisation and people admire its ability to do everything it does, as 

you say, and to respond and to change in a tactical way to what is happening now or to our biggest challenge 

right now.  It is a very operational organisation.  That is for sure.  Getting people really excited about the 

changes for the future when they are actually slogging away and dealing with today’s multiplicity of calls is 

quite hard, potentially, anyway. 

 

Secondly, I do not make any criticism of where we have been or where we are but, in my second thing about 

my people, I want them to be as well-led as possible.  I do want us to be really, really listening.  I do want 

people to feel that they can challenge a lot more.  I do want to get away from a lot of the hierarchy.  I cannot 

just click my fingers and say, “All right, no more hierarchy”, but I want officers and staff to feel that they can 

influence how they do their jobs not just today but in the future.  It is a big beast with 40,000-plus people, but 

we can improve the listening and we can improve our communication in all directions and we can flatten the 

hierarchies quite a lot so that more people feel more engaged with the change programmes and where we are 

going for the future.  That starts at the top.  We need to get out there and be listening and we need to be 

coherent and consistent in our understanding of what is required in some quite uncertain times. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  One of the key issues around dealing with the job, if I can say, is maximising the use of the 

resources you have.  The MPS has taken some steps of trying to push that to whatever the front line means in 

terms -- 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Yes, absolutely. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  -- of tackling policing.  I have an interpretation that sitting behind a desk is the front line of 

tackling policing as much as being out on the streets and we should not forget that.  As much as warranted 

Police Officers are important, the support that you get in delivering your jobs is equally important -- 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Absolutely. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  -- and is an effective tool in tackling crime.  In that sense around maximising those resources 

and reflecting those issues, one of the issues -- and can I just say on behalf of the Committee and I think the 

Chairman would say this: we welcome two issues.  One is the issue about the emphasis on tackling violence - 

and we have raised it for a number of years in terms of that trend - and also about the preventative issues 

because some parts of the MPS do have the time and the resources to do some of that preventative work.  The 

pressure is on.  I accept that.  On Territorial Policing, increasingly, from talking to people on the ground, they 

say, “We do not have much time to do some of that longer-term problem solving because we have lost some of 

that capacity and preventative work is becoming increasingly difficult”. 

 

Page 23



 

 

In our times, is there any discussion going on at senior level to start thinking that through?  My colleague will 

raise issues about borough mergers, but what can we do particularly around Territorial Policing and getting 

that prevention bit right in terms of some of that problem solving and interventions that stop harm to people? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  The short answer is, absolutely, 

there is.  In fact, just yesterday, we as a top team spent quite a lot of time, as a whole top team, talking about 

this subject. 

 

Within Territorial Policing: (a) there is a lot of pressure; and (b) also, some of the proposed movements 

towards, for example, bringing all our work to protect and support and deal with crimes against vulnerable 

people together is highly preventative.  It is about trying to make sure that you do not have somebody being 

dealt with by ten different Police Officers and four different agencies but we bring it together in a one-stop 

approach and look really seriously at, for example, repeat victimisation.  There are areas where we are already 

shifting quite strongly towards a preventative approach. 

 

We are also working very hard to try to take demand of all sorts out of the system, whether that is in calling 

handling by doing more online and so forth.  We will need to do more of that and we will need to be quite bold 

about some of that. 

 

I do recognise that if you go out on patrol with a response officer now, they will say, “I do not get as much 

time for proactivity as I once did”.  However, if you speak to a Dedicated Ward Officer, for example, 

particularly in our Pathfinder sites, they are saying, “Yes, actually, I have time to really solve some problems 

here and I am really enjoying that”.  It is not easy but that is the way we want to go.  It is particularly not easy 

given the first conversation about the sheer scale of response to events, but that is where we want to get to. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Let us move on to, then, issues around notifiable offences.  They have started to rise.  Some 

of the trends are there.  What do you think is driving some of the change?  If we could concentrate on 

violence, which this Committee would probably welcome, what do you think is driving some of that trend and 

the rises?  What is the thinking? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  It is quite hard to know.  We are 

not out of step with the rest of the country, as you will be aware.  In fact, if anything, the rise in London is 

rather lower than the rest of the country.  There does appear to be, over the last financial year and into this 

one, definitely a rise and particularly in some categories. 

 

We have, as an example, very high-profile and really of concern, the huge rise in the theft of mopeds and 

snatches and sometimes robberies and violence to people by somebody sitting on a moped.  In a number of 

different boroughs, that is a huge issue for us at the moment.  I would describe that as a trend.  It is a trend in 

both senses of the word.  It is primarily young men who appear to get a big thrill out of doing, who are seeing 

it as an easy source of income, who find it too easy to steal mopeds.  I could go on. 

 

It is not very different from - as you will remember, Len; you and I go back a very long way - the theft of 

cashboxes ten years ago. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Yes. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We designed it out.  We need to 

design that out and of course do a lot more intelligence work and lots of work with the criminal justice system 

Page 24



 

 

and diversion and whatnot.  We are bearing down on that and we need to.  Why has it suddenly exploded?  

Some people started doing it and it turned out to be easier than they thought, probably. 

 

Knife crime is a very dispersed problem.  This is not about gangs, primarily, although there are knives used in 

gangs of course and we are working very hard against our most prolific knife-carriers, most of whom are in 

some kind of gang or some sort of semi-organised setup.  We also have a lot of other young people carrying 

knives, some of whom, of course, are saying they are carrying one because they do not feel very well 

protected.  We completely get that and we may come on to that as a separate issue.  Unless Craig is going to 

help me -- 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  No, it is not one thing. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  -- I do not think we can put our 

finger on something.  What we can say is that nationally crime was going down and seems to be going back up. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  My last question, really.  We talk about the violence.  We have the Mayor’s Strategy, which I 

welcome because it is the first time we have had a policing strategy that mentioned that.  I can go back to 

policing strategies where we never even mentioned drugs in the past and their impact on crime.  For a long 

time, we have not talked about the role of alcohol, except we know that there are drivers of that. 

 

Is it time that we dust down and relook at some of our activities around issues of that drug market that may be 

- not always - leading to some of these knife crime activities, deals that have gone wrong, issues that have not 

gone quite right and/or also looking at the role of alcohol?  Not that I am going to stop everyone having a 

drink, but there is a propensity in certain violent crimes that drives them.  I am thinking of domestic violence 

but not in all.  These are not excuses for that crime, but they are a factor in it in some ways.  Somehow, in 

times of reduced resources, how does the MPS start to hit some of these levers to try to put a pause on the 

trend or send some signals around some of those activities? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Len, before I turn it over to the Commissioner in 

terms of some of the operational responses, that is exactly what we are looking at in terms of the Knife Crime 

Strategy and also in terms of the Police and Crime Plan around what we need to do in terms of prevention and 

intervention and how far down the line we can get to try to make sure that we are not just dealing with the 

symptoms, which is what the police are having to do at the moment in tackling it and bearing down on 

violence.  We are looking at what that means in terms of drugs, what it means in terms of alcohol and also 

what it means in terms of mental health issues and the trauma and the issues that we really need to get to 

understand about what is driving people to be violent.  Unless we get to the drivers of that violence, we are 

always going to be tackling the symptoms. 

 

It is hard.  It is hard to find the space.  Policing cannot do it on its own.  It really cannot do it on its own.  It has 

a particular role.  There is the preventative aspect of policing and there is a role for the police to play in that, 

but everybody else has to play their role.  That is what we will do from MOPAC in convening and driving 

partnership working around that with local authorities, with the National Health Service and with the criminal 

justice system as well to make sure not only that when there has been an arrest the right sentencing gets put 

in place, but also that there are the right mechanisms to try to tackle reoffending.  We absolutely have to deal 

with the drivers once people have committed the offences as well and how we help them not commit another 

offence.  That is really how we are going to tackle repeat victimisation.  We have to also tackle the offenders as 

well. 

 

Page 25



 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Do you want to add anything in terms of what the police need to do to implement that 

community safety plan around alcohol and drugs issues?  You could say it is more of the same, but actually it 

might need something a little bit different or a slightly different emphasis.  I would say thank you to 

Sophie Linden because I know what she is doing behind the scenes. 

 

There are the mixed messages of a Cultural Strategy that says we want a vibrant night-time economy, which I 

agree with, but that does not mean we go soft on poor landlords, irresponsible club-owners who think drugs 

are all right to go around willy-nilly and it does not really matter if people hurt themselves because it is up to 

them and they are responsible people, or people who keep feeding people drink knowing full well that they 

have had enough and should be turned away before trouble begins, whether it is in the home or on the way 

home.  It is those issues that I am looking to the police.  Whether it is a revamped licensing effort - because 

there are all sorts of good stories around licensing from the police because there are also some horror stories - 

there is not a consistency across London about the police’s enforcement role in licensing that needs to be 

brought in.  It might well be about experience; it may well be about that.  It seems to me, if that is your 

prevention strategy, that is what it should be about.  That is what we are looking for. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I entirely take those points, Len.  

What we are finding with the violent crime problems - and let us take knife crime as an example - it is very 

dispersed and it is very different in different boroughs, different places and different sub-areas, really.  

Absolutely, a lot of it comes back to just drugs markets and in some parts a lot of it is alcohol-fuelled. 

 

All of the boroughs, as you know, have their local priorities as well as the most significant priorities.  All of 

them are looking very hard at how they do their thing in relation to these.  However, at the same time, we 

need to have a consistent approach across all of these issues and I am not going to say you are wrong because 

I am sure you are right.  We need to be more consistent. 

 

Len Duvall AM:  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I agree completely.  There is often a tension around encouraging the 

night-time economy, which is the Night Czar’s mission for London, and also a tension around keeping those 

evenings safe for Londoners.  That is something that we need to be very conscious of. 

 

Before we go into the next set of questions, which is particularly around preventing serious violence, you 

touched upon earlier your aspirations for your workforce, Commissioner.  We already had a question but Onkar 

would like to pursue a little bit further your thoughts around the workforce. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Yes.  Commissioner, I just want to concentrate on the workforce.  First of all, let me 

on record put my gratitude for all the hard work that the MPS has done over recent months. 

 

In 2016, 62% of uniformed officers in the MPS said that their morale was low.  That puts you lower than 38 of 

the other 42 workforces.  You rightly said that morale was very low and you wanted to work on the morale.  

What particular measures do you have that you want to put in for making a better working environment for 

officers and to lift the morale up? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  There is a multiplicity of things.  I 

do not want to trivialise this, but I have been a Police Officer for an incredibly long time - one of the longest in 

the MPS - and in some respects, it has always been the case that if you ask a Police Officer how things are 

they will say, “It used to be a lot better and it is not great”, or a ruder version of that.  Therefore, I do take that 

slightly into account. 

Page 26



 

 

 

However, there are some things that have happened that have affected Police Officers in particular and have 

affected their morale about which I can probably do relatively little right now.  London is a very expensive 

place to be and there are issues around pay for some individuals and some cohorts in particular and pensions, 

as you will be aware, which actually still rankle with people.  They feel that the job they joined and the contract 

they felt they had is not now the one that they are working to.  As with other parts of the public sector, they 

will have to work longer and their pension arrangements are not what they once were.  Therefore, there are 

some things there that I do recognise will be extremely hard for me; I cannot wave a magic wand. 

 

However, we do have great people.  We have fantastic people coming through the door, incredibly capable and 

diverse and really super recruitment.  We still have very high retention and the job gets done to a very high 

standard. 

 

I mentioned various areas - leadership, equipment, welfare - and we are rolling out some really good 

technology, thanks to the previous generation of Commissioners and others.  They are all getting body-worn 

video this year if they are on uniformed patrol work.  They love that.  People will be issued soon with mobile 

devices so that they do not have to keep coming back to a police station.  They are going to love that.  It is 

going to be a really good bit of kit.  I just made an announcement yesterday that we may come to about Taser 

and my desire to protect the public and also the officers more, something I had been very focused on before I 

became Commissioner, even.  I was asking what we were doing about that. 

 

At the softer end of things, if you look at the occupational health response to the incidents we have had over 

the last several weeks, it has been excellent.  People are feeling cared for and taken seriously.  Then there are 

the issues that I was discussing with Len [Duvall AM] about how we improve the leadership capability more 

generally and in particular try to listen to our officers more.  I take any reasonable opportunity to try to both 

listen and respond to what people think they need and to try to give people a really positive working 

environment.  I want people to feel that they are really thriving, not just turning up and surviving, if you like.  

Again, Members of the Committee will have ideas about how we can do this, but we have a whole series of 

things underway. 

 

I mentioned my issue around externally the difference in confidence between some of our public communities 

and their confidence in the police and I would like to reduce that.  I am also somebody who - some of you 

know me well - has spent the last 20 years or probably more than that, actually, very heavily engaged in how 

we make a workplace more inclusive.  Diversity and inclusion is incredibly important to me also.  I do not think 

that the MPS is full of problems in that respect, personally, but there is a lot more we can do to make sure that 

we get the best out of everybody and they do feel included and they can really thrive. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Can I also just mention as 

well a group that we often do not talk about when we talk about morale?  That is our police staff.  If you look 

at the last four or five years, when you talk about changes in the rest of the country where officer numbers fell 

and a whole range of things, in our police staff we lost about 4,500 posts.  When you talk to people in the 

organisation who are on their third or fourth time of reapplying for their posts, it does make you think 

differently about the organisation you are in. 

 

A lot of the work we are doing as well is saying that the total organisation has to work.  That has been a big 

challenge for people.  When you are manging through this level of uncertainty around your financial envelope 

two, three or five years out, it is always going to put strain into the system. 

 

Page 27



 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  That is what I was going pick up on.  One of the 

things that has struck me about this discussion is that - and I know we are probably coming on to budgets and 

finance; I hope we are coming on to budgets and finance - yes, you can do a lot of transformation and you can 

do the supporting and the listening and there is really good work that is happening and should happen in the 

MPS. 

 

However, if the context that the officers are working in and the police are working in is absolute pressure and 

when we are talking about pressure we are talking about diminishing resources - Craig touched on the police 

staff and that was where the cuts were taken over the last years to get the £600 million coming out - there is 

massive pressure in the police at the moment.  When I go out talking to frontline officers, when they talk about 

pressure, the demand on them and their ability to respond is constrained by the budgets and by the number of 

officers they have. 

 

They are also constrained when you talk about problem solving.  The police can problem solve and they can 

work as far as they can on problem solving, but to really solve a problem you need all of the other partners to 

get around the table as well.  If those other partners are under immense pressure, that puts extra pressure on 

the police as well.  We really have to think about the context that the police are working in and that is about 

resources and massive pressure.  That does contribute to low morale and it does contribute to problem solving 

not happening in the way it should happen.  We really have to get on to that issue around what resources the 

MPS needs and how we ensure it gets the resources it needs whilst, yes, continuing to be more efficient and 

transforming the service for the public because we do need a transformed and modern MPS for the new 

demands that the years are going to bring us. 

 

Dr Onkar Sahota AM:  Thank you very much for those responses.  I know that my colleague will pick up the 

finance issue later on and so it will not get missed. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Yes, thank you, Deputy Mayor, particularly for that.  One could not 

disagree with you. 

 

One point I would make is about the increasing trend over recent years of neighbourhood officers having to 

deal with issues with residents with, for example, mental health issues.  There are pressures on local teams 

about issues that perhaps should have been dealt with or should be dealt with in partnership with other 

organisations that are then shunting that responsibility on to the MPS.  That is an issue. 

 

On a slightly lighter note, you made a point about neighbourhood teams parading and moving out to their 

neighbourhoods.  This is an opportunity for me to plug something, basically.  One of the issues is the amount 

of time that the teams are taking to move from their place of parade to where they finally get out in their 

wards.  Len [Duvall AM] has brought that up recently.  They may have to meet at 8.00am  somewhere - and I 

will say New Addington for no particular reason - and then have to travel an hour on a bus to get to their ward.  

This is replicated all over London.  I believe that some of the commanders are happy for them to meet and 

parade put in the boroughs, but one of the issues is around the body-worn video kit.  They have to go back to 

dock the kit at a central point and that is a technology issue. 

 

Therefore, just for you, Craig, because I know you understand these things -- 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Thanks. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  -- more than I do, certainly -- 

 

Page 28



 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):   Fair point. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  -- Craig has been living and breathing these issues for some years.  If you 

could take that one away? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  I have been aware of that 

challenge.  Some of it is about network capacity with some of our partner agencies.  It is certainly something 

we are looking at. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Yes.  We have finally got to a position where partners, the LFB and the 

local authorities are happy for officers to go out there, but they do not have the kit. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  There has been some 

amazing goodwill from partners about how this can work better for London collectively. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That helps morale, of course. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Absolutely. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is my tenuous link to it.  All right.  Fantastic.  The next set of 

questions is about tackling serious violence and the Deputy Chair has a question. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you very much.  Before we start asking the questions we had 

prepared I want to ask some questions about the announcement yesterday on Taser deployment.  We will ask 

about the reasons for it in a moment but if you can quickly outline for us what the increase is, the number of 

new officers and which officers in which teams?  I understand there has also been a change in the operational 

rules for how they can be deployed.  If you can tell us what that is as well that will be really good. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We are going to train over the 

next two years an extra 1,800, roughly, officers.  They will almost entirely come from our emergency response 

teams.  There are some specialists but that is a small number.  We are also changing the rules, as you have said.  

In the past you would always see in an emergency response team two Taser-trained officers together.  

Potentially there will be one person carrying a Taser accompanied by someone who does not have Taser and is 

not fully Taser trained, although they will be ‘Taser aware’, as we call it.  That will, as well, increase the 

availability.  We are also saying that Sergeants whom have previously been trained, if appropriate, can also 

book out a Taser to have with them.   

 

This means that as well as all our specialist officers, in things like firearms who all carry Taser as a less lethal 

option, we will be doing a considerable uplift amongst our emergency response officers.  It is not dedicated 

ward officers, those working in the neighbourhood teams, as an example.  It is those who are most likely to 

have to respond to a call or come across an event in which serious violence is being used.   

 

It will, in effect, double the numbers of availability in a Borough at any one time of the day or night.  We are 

doing this in parallel with a likely change in the actual device we will have.  I can say this now, can I? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes. 

 

Page 29



 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We are moving from the current 

Taser to a different Taser because that has been licensed by the Home Office.  It is an improved device with 

better data recording and also if it does not fire properly, or have the required effect in the first instance, it can 

be fired again.  Essentially it is one that the Home Office now approve.  We would anticipate that over the 

coming years the old Taser will no longer be supported.  We are moving to the new Taser.  That requires a lot 

of extra training.  We are going to do that over this two-year period.  I anticipate the new officers should all be 

trained within a year of when we start.   

 

Of course, you will be aware that by the end of this year they will all have body-worn video.  It is already highly 

scrutinised and highly accountable; it will be even more so. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  A couple of follow-ups on that.  I believe the total number of officers with 

Tasers will be 6,400.  You said they would primarily be in the response teams. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  The new ones, yes. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  What proportion of people in response teams will therefore have Tasers? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I did know that yesterday.  I am so 

sorry; I will have to come back to you.  I have a number in my head but I do not want to just say it.   

 

There are all these firearms officers, for example, standing outside Parliament.  The specialist firearms officers 

and the armed response vehicles all have Taser.  There are a number of other specialists who already have 

Taser.  In any one borough - let us take Southwark - there will be two double-crewed cars, two people in two 

vehicles at any one time with Taser, potentially more but only if they are double-crewed.  We are going to go 

to the position where anybody who is on duty who is Taser trained, and can be accompanied by another 

officer, will have it.  It adds up to, in effect, a doubling at any one time of the numbers.  It still means that a 

large proportion of our response teams are not Taser trained. 

 

Not everybody will agree with that.  This is the sort of decision a Commissioner has to take.  This is my view of 

what is the right level to have to protect the public and staff.  I am looking for it to continue to be our best 

decisionmakers, our fittest people and experienced officers who really want to be carrying this piece of 

equipment.  It is an excellent piece of equipment but it is a grave responsibility. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  Will the operational guidelines be published?  I have tried to find them 

today and I am not sure I have been able to. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I am very sorry.  They most 

certainly should be.  I cannot imagine why they are not. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  OK.  As long as we can have a link sent to us, that will be great.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I think so, yes.  Colleagues here 

are welcome to come and look at the training, which I know some of you have done before. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  Will the operational guidelines for their use on children be changed? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  They will not be changed.  They 

are very clear.  It is an important part of the training.  It is very demanding training.  I have not been through it 

Page 30



 

 

but I have witnessed the whole of it.  They are put through a number of scenarios, including where people may 

have mental health issues, health issues and, indeed, with young people.  Every use has to be justified.  It has 

to be necessary and it has to be a proportionate response to the degree of force or threat offered by the other 

party. 

 

The vast majority of times, as you very well know, 80-something per cent of the time an officer draws a Taser, 

it is not fired.  It is only fired really very rarely, about 200-something times in London last year.  The vast 

majority of times the sheer pointing of the weapon, or the red dot which is the next stage, takes the heat out 

of the situation and allows people to be arrested safely.  Of course, it is generally very much safer in these sorts 

of situations than another option would be.  In the most extreme cases, I am utterly convinced the lives of both 

members of the public who are victims and suspects have been saved by the fact we had a Taser. 

 

In terms of young people, they are very well aware of the potential risk and also the community impact of 

using a Taser in relation to a young person.  It is very rarely done and is a big part of the training. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  That was my next question.  They are disproportionately used on younger 

age groups.  A disproportional use on black and minority ethnic (BAME) Londoners as well has been found in 

the past.  The Children’s Rights Alliance has made it clear that children do feel quite frightened by Tasers even 

when they are not used against them.  Being threatened by them seems to have a strong effect on children 

who are already carrying knives because they feel a level of threat on the street.  Are you going to do anything 

to mitigate the potential impact that would have in trusting the police? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We already have some quite 

extensive engagement more generally and engagement around Taser.  Across all our boroughs, as we speak, 

we are engaging with our local communities and talking to them about Taser.  We do a lot of work in schools 

and elsewhere.  We do need to talk further with young people about Taser.  I do not want young people to be 

frightened of their police officers - that is for sure - for any reason.   

 

I do want people to understand just how restrained officers are in the use of Taser.  Every single time it is used 

is looked at very carefully.  If somebody uses Taser inappropriately or disproportionately they will be 

investigated and they will be dealt with.  It is taken very, very seriously.  However, I understand why people 

might be frightened of it, of course.   

 

You are going to the point of how do we explain and engage.  The community can help with this.  The Deputy 

Mayor [for Policing and Crime] and other key stakeholders can help us with this.  We do not want young 

people to be frightened. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  We will be following this up with questions once it comes in. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Sure. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  Finally, in terms of the justification you are giving for this.  In the reports 

and the announcement, you have linked it partly to terrorism.  However, I believe these changes were already 

in train in response to knife crime.  Can you outline what you think a typical scenario might be where this 

would help with preventing knife crime? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I did not link it with terrorism but 

it was in the reporting, if you like. 

 

Page 31



 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  Yes. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  This was something I felt strongly 

about before I started as Commissioner.  The first management Board I attended was before I started.  I 

specifically asked it - back to Len’s [Duvall AM] points really - to be about how are we supporting, protecting 

and equipping our officers, and in particular where we are with Taser.  You will be aware, as we have just 

discussed, that knife crime had been increasing and violent crime had been increasing.  A survey by the Police 

Federation indicated that a number of officers felt more officers should have Taser.   

 

This is primarily about protecting the public.  We have more knife crime.  We have more violent crime.  Every 

day there are examples of Taser not being fired but being actually able to stop somebody from being violent, 

stop something from getting worse and stop somebody from getting hurt.  That is what I wanted to achieve.  I 

felt - and there is not a pure science here - the availability was insufficient.  That is why I have increased it. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Thank you for your reassurances, Commissioner, about this.  The MPS has issued a 

police report this morning that officers attended near Regent’s Park Mosque and Tasered somebody who was 

apparently armed with a shoehorn.  Nobody else was hurt.  That does seem rather peculiar.  I presume you do 

not want to particularly comment on it and you may not know the details.  However, it does seem to me, going 

back to the reassurances you have given, something you might want to be looking at. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I have heard of the incident.  I 

have not had a review of it.  I do not know what the full circumstances were.  Rest assured every single one is 

looked at.  We should not jump to a conclusion that that was an inappropriate use.  We do not know.  It is not 

always that somebody is armed with a weapon when we use it, far from it.  However, sometimes it is.   

 

Perhaps I should just say to Sian, I did not say this was in response to terrorism.  However, I have said, of 

course, there are some arrests we have made recently that are terrorist arrests where Taser has been used - in 

Parliament Square as an example - and it has been an extraordinarily powerful response.  Who knows, in other 

circumstances something terrible might have happened either in terms of the suspect coming to more harm or 

members of the public injured.  There is a whole variety of violent incidents in which Taser is entirely 

appropriate and is the best tactic to use.  There are others where it is not.   

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You asked for some ideas of 

examples.  In this current series, the MPS documentary, you see a few real examples where people are using it 

to contain a situation in a completely different way without having to use excessive violence or have eight 

people piling on top of someone, as it was in my day.  It offers a completely different opportunity and 

approach at times in those highly-violent situations that patrolling officers, particularly emergency response 

teams, are often the first on. 

 

The other point around the policy change is really important.  All that has done is bring us in line with national 

policy.  We were outside national policy. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I was not necessarily questioning the need to have more Tasers and the rest of the 

policy you outlined, Commissioner.  I was concerned that you give very clear reassurances.  However, with this 

incident - I accept we only have the MPS’s press release about it - as nobody else was hurt in the incident that 

is something you might want to look into. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We will certainly be looking at it.  

As I say, I cannot comment any further. 

Page 32



 

 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  No, and I do not expect you to. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  What I can say is we have used 

Taser in this force since 2003.  It has been heavily scrutinised.  I believe we have used it safely.  I believe we 

have used it to very good effect.  As Craig says, on occasions the individual who is Tasered would otherwise 

have had an Asp, which is a very blunt instrument and is likely to kill people all too easily, or eight burly police 

people jumping on top of them, which also has had sometimes disastrous outcomes for all concerned.   

 

I would really invite you to come and look at the training.  It is extraordinarily extensive.  The officers who use 

Taser are very, very careful and very restrained. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I am sure Members may wish to take that up.  For the sake of balance - 

speaking for myself as opposed to the Committee - I think these changes are appropriate in response to some 

very difficult challenges and the violent crime, particularly, that Londoners are facing.  That is speaking for 

myself at the moment.  Sian, you have some more questions? 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  My further questions are about prevention.  Some of the answers you gave 

to Assembly Member Duvall earlier on, particularly from the Deputy Mayor [for Policing and Crime], have 

covered a lot of the ground I wanted to ask about. 

 

When it comes to knife crime I wanted to ask about any new initiatives that might be coming up within the 

Knife Crime Strategy around prevention, also whether there are any new communications policies planned.  I 

do not know if that is more of a police or a MOPAC question. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We have been working really 

closely on this very closely, but it is probably better for the Deputy Mayor to start off. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We are going to be publishing the Knife Crime 

Strategy shortly.  I am also coming to talk to you tomorrow in a closed session around the development of the 

Knife Crime Strategy.  We are looking at prevention.  We are looking at, as I have said before, intervention.  

When we publish we will be able to give more details around what that looks like in terms of working with 

schools, working with communities and working with families, as well as continuing to work really closely with 

the MPS. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  Can I ask about the communication policy specifically?  Will there be a new 

communications policy?  We have talked before about how people are made fearful of knives, and the reason 

people are carrying them is because they do not feel safe.  The MPS are still releasing - and they have done it 

this week - pictures of huge knives which then appear in the newspapers and are very frightening pictures.  

Will there be a new policy for communications within this prevention strategy? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Craig might pick up on the MPS policy.  

However, in terms of communications we have done some really quite extensive consultation with 

communities, families, young people and the stakeholders you would expect such as the criminal justice system 

and the voluntary sector. 

 

The real message coming through is about communicating with young people about the dangers of knife crime 

and how you get that communication through.  We are looking at the best way of really getting those 

messages through; whether that is through social media or some programmes going into schools on what the 

Page 33



 

 

problems are around carrying a knife.  A lot of young people have said to us during the course of this 

consultation they are carrying knives because they are fearful.  We are really trying to get the message across 

that to carry a knife does not make you safer.  You may feel it makes you safer but it will actually put you in 

more danger. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  To pick up on that, I was 

fortunate enough to be part of one of the consultation events.  I applaud the work MOPAC colleagues have 

done because it was an extensive event with previous gang members and a whole range of other agencies. 

 

On the issue you raise - and I was very conscious that you have raised this with me a couple of times before - it 

is fair to say there were mixed views from all the consultees.  There was quite a strong message from some 

about showing police effectiveness and showing that action is taking place.  There is bit of a belief that 

nothing is happening, the stop-and-search has all finished and we are not doing anything.  I found that quite 

powerful.  Similarly - as we discussed before - there is some stuff around bespoke communications for young 

people, what that could look like, the role of other advocates in that space rather than us and the strength of 

the police message.  We are probably rehearsing some of the stuff you will go through tomorrow but I was 

impressed with the work that had gone into the strategy, the basis for it and some of the work that is coming 

up in relation to it.  It would be useful to see that. 

 

On a practical note, we are doing Sceptre again this week in terms of the work around knife crime and that 

drive.  That is on again this week.  That is the rolling commitment we have made in terms of that relentless 

energy and focus.  The consultation is extensive and, as you would expect, there is a range of views. 

 

Sian Berry AM (Deputy Chair):  Thank you. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  One of the things I was very supportive of, and the former Mayor did support 

funding for, was youth workers in accident and emergency (A&E) departments, particularly the major trauma 

centres.  Given that we have a wide range of A&Es in London, will you be looking at potentially supporting that 

being rolled out further?  At other A&Es you may have someone with a relatively minor cut from a knife, but at 

that crucial point you can hopefully support them away from getting further involved. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  To be brief, yes, we are looking at that. 

 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM:  Fantastic.  Great, thank you. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  If I may.  First of all, if I say, Commissioner, I absolutely welcome the increase in Taser.  We 

must look after police officers and the public.  We talked earlier about morale if the police officers feel they 

have more to support them on safety issues. 

 

A question, please, to the Deputy Mayor.  We have heard that the Commissioner - and I listened to what you 

said avidly - believes and knows that stop-and-search is a really good tool, which it obviously is.  With the 

increase in crime, can you tell me whether you are supportive towards this stop-and-search?  One minute the 

Mayor is saying it is a good thing and the next minute there seems to be mixed messages coming out of 

MOPAC.  Can you confirm that if there is an increase in stop-and-search as a reaction to what is an increase in 

knife crime, MOPAC would be supportive of that? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There have not been any mixed messages coming 

out of MOPAC or from me.  Stop-and-search is a useful tactic for the police to deploy, especially around knife 

crime.  We support their intelligence-led use of it.  The Commissioner has been very clear that officers should 

Page 34



 

 

feel confident in their use of stop-and-search.  That is the position we take as well.  We support the police to 

use stop-and-search in the community to take knives off our streets. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Therefore, if it goes up, we are not going to hear any complaining from MOPAC? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We support the use of intelligence-led stop-and-

search.  There will be transparency and accountability of that and we understand that.  I cannot be clearer, we 

absolutely support that.  It is a useful and important tactic that the police should use.  Officers should feel 

confident in using that. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  Good.  If it increases, you have got -- 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We expect it to increase. 

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is good.  That is positive. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  The Commissioner has been clear about this as 

well.  We expect there to be increases.  Whilst this is increasing, and there is intelligence there to support the 

appropriate use of stop-and-search, we would expect there may be some increases in it.   

 

Susan Hall AM:  That is very good news.  Thank you. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  In fairness, the debate we have had in this Chamber is about the 

ineffectiveness of stop-and-search and the volumes against the percentage of effectiveness.  There is a 

disparity.  That was recognised by the previous Commissioner.  One of the issues is that the pendulum may 

have corrected too far that way and so there needs to be a re-enabling of the use of appropriate targeted 

information-led use of stop-and-search.  Londoners would probably understand that.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Just to expand on that, one of the first things you did, Commissioner, when you came in 

was say that you wanted to bear down on knife crime and gun crime.  I was very struck by your robust 

approach to stop-and-search.  I do really want to explore a little bit more about what Assembly Member Hall 

has just said about the difference between what MOPAC might think on the efficacy of stop-and-search and 

you.  I have a headline here in the Evening Standard from the Mayor, “I will do everything in my power to cut 

stop-and-search”.   

 

The first thing I want to ask from you, Commissioner, is: do you think there is any possible merit in making 

more use of section 60 in relation to stop-and-search? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  In brief, yes.  I take the 

Chairman’s point and I pay tribute to my predecessor, [Sir] Bernard [Hogan-Howe, former Commissioner of 

Police of the Metropolis]. 

 

Let us very briefly go back much further.  I completely understand that in the history of London, the history of 

London’s police and their communities, stop-and-search has been historically a difficult and contested issue.  If 

we go back 20 or 30 years ago some of us will remember the so-called ‘sus laws’.  This was a difficult issue.  

There was a perception from some - and from people who are still alive now - that it was used in a rather 

random fashion, if I can put it that way, and that caused resentment.  I pay tribute to Bernard because he 

recognised that there was considerable concern around disproportionality of outcomes and low - your point, 

Chairman - arrest rates.  During his commissionership the arrest rate went up a lot and disproportionality 

Page 35



 

 

reduced, by which I mean that if you are a, let us say, young black man walking down the street and you are 

stopped and searched the same proportion of those young people, whether they are white or black, get 

arrested.  That tells you something quite positive, if you are concerned about disproportionately, about the 

way we conduct our activities.  During that time period, the volume of stop-and-search reduced and you have 

touched on that.   

 

Secondly, the volume of section 602 usage reduced very considerably.  As we know, the current Prime Minister 

and former Home Secretary was very concerned about some of the issues.  There was a lot of focus on stop-

and-search and some best practice guidelines were produced by policing, including in relation to section 60.   

 

I am assuming Members are broadly aware of section 60.  Its use in London is now very rare indeed, or has 

been until the last few weeks.  My view is that, for example, if I was - and some of you will have seen the MPS 

documentary - the senior person in the Hyde Park scenario or a number of the other scenarios you have seen 

in that documentary programme and I had seen disorder or violence take place on that scale I would then want 

to have section 60 as a possible tactic to use, if I can put it that way, and power to enforce for a short period 

of time, in a prescribed area, because of my professional judgement.  It is usually the duty officer, a role many 

of you will be familiar with.  The duty officer is an experienced person and they say, “I feel I know.  I do not 

have specific intelligence that something is definitely going to happen next but it may”.  I believe, as the law 

says in those circumstances they should be able to have a section 60 imposed, we should support them doing 

that.  There should not be a higher bar if the professional judgement is that there may be serious violence.  I 

do not expect it to be used a very great deal.  There are times and places where it is entirely appropriate and 

will keep people safe.  It needs to be for short time periods, in small areas, and accountable, justified and 

lawful.  I do support it in some circumstances, yes. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That is very encouraging.  Did I hear you - by way of a sort of throwaway line - say “up 

until the past few weeks” when you were talking about the incidence of knife crime?  Are you telling me that 

since your coming and your change in attitude to stop-and-search, you have been able to reduce knife crime, 

possession and related matters? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  No.  I am not even saying - which 

some people might have interpreted, sorry, as it was a rather careless line - that section 60’s usage has gone up 

hugely in the last few weeks.  What I am saying is that I know what it was for the last financial year.  Section 60 

usage was very low and knife crime was going up. 

 

Knife crime, of course like any other crime, fluctuates.  It was very high in March.  It is slightly lower at the 

moment.  I do not describe that as a trend.  We are working very, very hard.  I want to be judged in the next 

three months, six months and a year.  I am not saying that knife crime is now on the way back down but we are 

working very hard to take it down.  I have made it clear to my officers that, within the law, when they feel they 

need to use section 60 they should.  It is a hugely powerful section and needs to be used carefully and with 

discretion. 

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I have no doubt that the police would use it with discretion.  Therefore, can I ask the 

Deputy Mayor if you see a greater incidence of section 60 being used in prescribed places and in the limited 

way the Commissioner has spelled out?  Is it something that is going to be supported by you and the Mayor? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Section 60 is like stop-and-search; it is about the 

appropriateness of its use, the transparency and accountability of that, and the engagement with the 

                                                 
2 Section 60 of the Criminal Justice and Public Order Act 1994. 

Page 36



 

 

community as well.  Yes, absolutely, if section 60 is used in the appropriate manner, and as the Commissioner 

has set out around its lawfulness, and it is not used on a long-term basis or across over too large a 

geographical area, yes, we will be supportive of that.  We support the police in using all the powers they have 

in an appropriate way to tackle knife crime.  The violence on our streets is unacceptable.  We have to protect 

our young people and we have to protect our communities.   

 

I have recently spoken to a Borough Commander who did put a section 60 into a small area of the local 

community.  I have also spoken to the local community about that and they were very pleased and happy.  

They were content that that had been put in.  By putting that in they found a number of very large knives, but 

also through the process of the section 60 going in they had engaged with the community and told the 

community leaders why that was going in.  It was very transparent, accountable and absolutely appropriate.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  That sounds like a kind of post-hoc thing.  You cannot consult the community before you 

are bringing in a section 60, can you? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  It is not about consulting before; it is about 

engaging with the community and making sure they understand why a section 60 has been put in place.  

Actually, you can quite quickly talk to leaders of the community.  Borough Commanders, as we all know - and 

we have had many discussions in this Committee about it - know their community leaders and have that quick 

ability to talk to them.  That is important and should continue.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  I am hugely encouraged by that.  I was particularly struck by a statement you made right 

at the very beginning, Commissioner, as a result of the events that there have been, about the huge - I cannot 

recall precisely how you phrased it - expressions of support for policing.  My guess is as far as section 60 is 

concerned, a sensibly used section 60 will be something that again the public would want to encourage.  I 

would like to think that there is no equivocation and that MOPAC would in fact support this. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  There is no equivocation.   

 

Tony Arbour AM:  Thank you, Chairman.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  That is fine.  That is a good debate around section 60.  Partly to refer to 

Tony’s comments, you can brief the community.  I was subject to a briefing on a potential section 60 in the 

north of one of my boroughs with the Independent Advisory Group (IAG) and it was positively responded to by 

those leaders.  Thank you. 

 

We are now moving on to the last section.  Thank you, Members and everyone, for the timings.  We are doing 

very well.  It is a very important issue around challenges for policing in London, particularly in the aspect of 

resourcing.  Andrew, do you want to lead these questions? 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes.  Perhaps we could start off by working out exactly where we are on funding 

because we have talked about the £400 million shortfall.  I think it was today, actually, that it was reported:  

 

“The Metropolitan Police will not have to find cuts worth hundreds of millions of pounds over the next 

three years, the Home Office has announced, following calls for the force’s budget to be protected in 

the wake of two terror attacks.” 

 

This is a report in The Independent of a press release from the Home Office.  The report goes on to say that a 

spokesperson for the Home Office said:  

Page 37



 

 

 

“The Government is not reducing the Met’s budget by £400 million.  Police spending was protected in 

the 2015 Spending Review and the Met has had a broadly flat cash budget since then including precept 

- in line with every other force in the country.”  

 

It seems to me that the £400 million cut still is there because of the pressures on the MPS’s budget from 

inflation, pensions and all the other things.  Where are we? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  If I start as probably the least 

expert on this, my understanding is that the statement from the Home Office yesterday, together with other 

information, indicates that the police funding formula review may not happen.  We of course did not know 

what the result of that review would be, but it is perfectly possible that it would have or could have resulted in 

less funding for the MPS.  That was one of our uncertainties.  If the funding formula review is taken away, that 

uncertainty goes.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That was one of the known unknowns.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Exactly.  I was once a baby 

accountant but I am not an accountant, by the way.  However, what that leaves us with is an MPS that has 

already, as has been noted, taken £600 million out of its budget over the previous years and out of its 

spending over the previous years, not without some difficulty, which is at this stage still planning to be a 

smaller MPS. 

 

In relation to the £400 million, as you say, that is our current prediction, not taking into account any changes 

in the National and International Capital City (NICC) grant, so-called, which is another uncertainty.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I was going to come on to that.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  If we forget that for a second, we 

believe we have £400 million of pressures and extra costs - which Craig [Mackey QPM] is supremely expert on 

and you too perhaps - that will bear down on us in the next few years unless there is further resourcing coming 

in.  We have been talking with the Government in light of the terrorist attacks and the background context 

about what our resourcing might be in the future.  You are right on the £400 million.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  In fact, nothing has changed and that is effectively fake news from the Home Office.  

I would not expect you on comment on that, Cressida, but Sophie might.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  It is factual.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  If the reports are correct that they are dropping 

the funding formula review, we would be pleased with that because it takes away that uncertainty and also, 

frankly, a lot of work in lobbying and trying to make sure that the funding formula review did not disadvantage 

London.  That is one thing but, as the Commissioner has said, that was just one part of the issue for the MPS.  

There was the funding formula review. 

 

The second bit is that the ‘flat cash’ that the Home Secretary describes as protecting the police budget is not a 

protection at all because what the MPS needs and its budget needs are real-terms increases.  We have real 

increases in demand, real increases in cost and real pressures, which mean we then get to the £400 million 

worth of savings in order to be able to deliver the service and protect London in the way that we need to.   

Page 38



 

 

 

Then there are two other bits as well.  There is the NICC grant.  The MPS is seriously underfunded on that 

despite the Home Office agreeing the amount of money that the MPS spends because it is policing the capital 

city.  It is £174 million underfunded on that grant.  Then we have -- 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That is based on the Government’s own numbers, not based on the MPS’s numbers, 

which are even higher. 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  That is based on its own numbers.  It is 62% 

underfunded.  The Home Secretary, who wrote to the previous Commissioner when this was agreed, accepted 

that there was that underfunding.  That was a political decision because they were not putting more money 

into the overall policing budget.  That is basically what needs to happen.  We need to see real-terms increases.  

If we do not see real-terms increases - we have talked about the pressures on the MPS already around CT and 

increases in violent crime - it is going to be really difficult to secure the safety of Londoners. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes.  I will come on to the NICC in a minute but, just to be absolutely clear, when the 

Home Office says, “The MPS will not have to find cuts worth hundreds of millions of pounds over the next 

three years”, the Home Office is not telling the truth? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  You are right in your 

language.  They are not cuts.  The way I have used it internally with colleagues is that it is like saying to 

someone you are taking home £1,000 a month and in four years’ time you will still be taking home £1,000 a 

month.  Will you feel as well off?  No, you will not.  Inflation is running at 2.9%; you have pay pressures; you 

have a whole range of other things.  This is £400 million of pressures that are sitting there in the budget that 

are real and are based on a current set of assumptions.  If those assumptions change, those pressures could get 

bigger or they could get lower.   

 

There is the pay one.  Can we keep pay at 1% for another four years?  Pay puts on about £25 million of 

pressure for every 1% you put in.  If you can find no other way of doing it, it is 500 police officers.  Every 1% 

on the pay bill could be 500 police officers out unless there is new money to support it.  Those are all choices 

we have to make as we build the budget and present options to the Mayor and the Deputy Mayor [for Policing 

and Crime].   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes.  We have the £400 million cuts to come as things stand.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We do have that. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  We have £400 million of 

pressure.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  We have to take £400 million out of the MPS 

budget.  The Home Secretary can continue to say, “We have protected the MPS budget”.  That is not 

protection in my books and I do not think it is protection in your books or in Londoners’ books either if you are 

taking that amount of money out of the budget. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Exactly.  Can I just go on to the NICC briefly as well?  It is a smaller sum but still 

significant.  I understand from what Craig has told us before that it is always paid after the event.  We spend 

the money and then we try to get it back out of the Home Office.  Correct? 

 

Page 39



 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes, and we have not had a 

review.  We are working on, as you say, a media release at the moment.  The other bit, as the Deputy Mayor 

covered, that we need clarity on is what is happening to the NICC for next year.  We are nine months away 

from a budget.  Is it going to be the same?  Is it bigger?  Are we going to get the full amount?  We do not 

know that yet.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Bearing in mind what has been going on in London, certainly in the current year, one 

could expect that the amount we are spending that would be reasonably attributable to NICC is going to be 

significantly more.   

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.  We touched on in the 

Budget and Performance Committee last week when we had some time around this.  The point that we have 

emphasised a number of times is that it is really important when we see the response for London that we 

understand this is a system response.  It is not just ringfencing parts of it, while I absolutely understand why 

people do that.  I used the figure at the Budget Committee that for the events at Westminster Bridge, from our 

early analysis, for every £1 we spend in the CT budget we spent £2 in the wider MPS budget.  If you are going 

to have a system response, that is the sort of gearing you need.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Yes.  Assuming we have to find £400 million cuts/savings/not funded in the MPS 

budget, plus whatever extra the NICC is, Commissioner, how are you going to bridge the gap? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We have been planning for a 

smaller MPS.  We have been planning in the longer run to be more productive and more efficient.  We do think 

we can do that and must do that, as the Deputy Mayor has said, but in the light of the increasing demand and 

in particular the extra demand brought upon us by the terrorist attacks - looking back, as you say, over time 

and other spend but looking forward, dealing with that threat and providing protection and security - I have to 

say that it will be very difficult.  That is why we have been talking with the Government, and not just me but 

other police chiefs.  We are working with chiefs across the country. 

 

I do believe London is special.  I would.  I do believe it is different.  There is the capital city and the degree of 

threat and risk that sits in London.  We are talking to colleagues, to the Home Office and to the Government 

about the future because it will be extremely difficult, even while becoming more efficient and taking more 

cost out, for us to provide security and reassurance to the public that we can provide the services that they 

reasonably think we should be providing with that budget in the future.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  What options are you looking at? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We are certainly looking at how 

we, as I said, take demand out of the system.  We already have a large number of programmes underway, for 

example around estates, which I think we will continue with, and around using technology better, which we will 

continue with.  We have a whole series of programmes within our transformation portfolio.  In the current 

climate they will not be sufficiently transformative, if I can put that way, and sufficiently money-saving for us.  

If we do not get any further money it will be very difficult for us to provide some of the services we currently 

provide. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  What we are talking about is a reduction in police officer numbers.  From what you are 

saying, if all these other options do not bridge the gap, we are talking about cuts in police officers.   

 

Page 40



 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  It is inevitable.  You will be aware 

that we have taken £600 million out and in this force, unlike many others, we have largely protected the police 

officer numbers and taken the savings - terrible word - from other areas.  That has involved enormous numbers 

of police staff losing their jobs, for example. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Police Community Support Officers (PCSOs) in particular? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  PCSOs, of course.  We have 

looked in an awful lot of our cupboards.  We have improved our contracts.  We have taken excessive cost out 

left, right and middle.  It is inevitable that without further assistance our police officer numbers, in my view, 

will drop.  I do not like to talk about specific numbers as, “That is the right number”, “That is what I want”, or, 

“That is what I need”, because that is not helpful.  It is about choices at the time.  Right now, we are 

undoubtedly facing a reduction in police officer numbers.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Thank you for that.  Then you also talked about the estates. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Yes.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Presumably, from what you are saying, that means more police station closures. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Yes, it does.  How can I put it?  I 

am long in the tooth and I am a sentimentalist.  However, I do not see police station closures per se as 

necessarily a bad thing.  Indeed, if we were not facing the budget pressures we are I would still say that to 

provide a 21st-century police service I want in fact to have even fewer expensive-to-run, inefficient buildings 

and I want my officers more mobile.  That is the way I want this police service to be.  Of course, we will retain 

and must retain some buildings both to operate from and for the public to come to, but our footfall in terms of 

members of the public wishing to attend a police station is getting less and less and less.  The vast majority of 

people want to speak to us on the phone, now increasingly online and of course, where we can, face-to-face in 

their local area or where they are working. 

 

The short answer: we will be reducing the number of police stations, yes, and we would be even if we were not 

facing these budget cuts, in my view and the Deputy Mayor’s view as well. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Two issues come from that.  One of the issues is the one that Tony [Arbour AM] 

flagged up about the time it takes officers to get to where they are supposed to be patrolling from a central 

point.  If there are fewer central points where they are supposed to parade, then we have to look at other 

options.  One option might be looking at partner organisations using it. 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Sure.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  That is one issue.  The other issue is the various phone numbers and I have heard a lot 

of complaints, particularly from people in Camden, about the length of time to get through to the non-

emergency number.  In fact, I have put some Mayor’s questions down for tomorrow about that.  If we are 

going to stop people being able to go to police stations to report crime or a lost dog or whatever it happens to 

be, particularly if they are non-emergency numbers, then it has to be an efficient system.  The evidence I have 

been getting from quite a few people in Camden is that it is not.   

 

Page 41



 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We will go away and look at that.  

I take your point entirely in principle, though.  Of course, whatever way we encourage people to contact us 

and whatever way they want to contact us, it must be an effective and efficient system. 

 

You have heard though about the very large increase in demand and increase in calls.  Right now, I would have 

to say and actually do say to the wider public that we are a very busy police service for all the reasons you can 

completely see.  We are still having a very large number of contacts that do not really need that call.  They 

really do not.  That is clogging up our systems and causing a lot of wasted effort.   

 

We want to educate people more and more about how to contact us efficiently and how we get back to them 

quickly, and that will be more and more online, and more and more people of all generations and all 

communities want to do that more than we currently have.  We will also be trying to, if you like, switch off 

some of the less efficient methods and try to deter some of the unnecessary calls. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Are we going to finally kill off the ‘contact points’ idea?  That was the fig leaf when 

we closed the police stations before and it simply has not worked.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  In terms of your wider question about the 

options around getting the savings out because of the cuts in the police budget, we are looking at the whole 

of the police estate.  We have to look at the whole of the police estate because we have to get that money 

out.  Yes, we are having to come out and we will be looking at these things.  The wider question is around 

what it is that the MPS budget needs.  We have to be more efficient.  We have to be more effective.  The MPS 

needs to be more efficient and effective.   

 

Even with that transformation, without the change to the MPS budget we are talking about police officer 

numbers.  We are talking about reductions in officer numbers.  That does concern me and it concerns the 

Mayor because without the right level of policing service that London needs, the officers that London needs, 

we are going to find it very difficult to keep London safe, to tackle violent crime as well as CT.  The only way of 

doing that is - yes, no funding review - getting back to real-terms increases in the policing budget for the 

MPS.  That is our bottom line.  Otherwise, we are going to have to take some really difficult decisions and we 

are worried about the safety of London.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Thank you for that.  I do not think anybody - certainly on this side of the chamber - 

would disagree with what you have had to say.  Inevitably, we are getting to the end of the cuts that can be 

made without biting into police numbers.  The Commissioner has made that position very clear.  I am just 

exploring the bits and pieces that we still have left before we get into the bone.  That is why I mention the 

question of contact points, which have been a complete waste of time and I think most people would agree 

they were a complete waste of time.  They were an invention to try to cover up the last round of police station 

closures.   

 

I want to go on next to borough mergers, where we have got to and when we are going to hear more news 

about that.  Certainly, the feeling I am getting back, particularly from the Camden side, is that it has not been 

entirely a success as far as people in Camden are concerned.  We can talk about that without me going into the 

detail now. 

 

What system of evaluation is there going to be for the two - I have forgotten what they are called; not ‘pilot’ - 

Pathfinder mergers?  First of all, what is the system of evaluation of the Pathfinders?  The feeling I have had 

back is that it is the evaluation will be what we want it to be rather than any hard evidence-based evaluation.  I 

am concerned that it will come up with a result that people want to see rather than an evidence-based result.   

Page 42



 

 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I have been out on patrol in Camden and 

Islington.  I went out on night patrol with some response officers.  I have also been to the newly formed East 

Space Command Unit and talked to officers around the work they are doing around vulnerability, looking at 

rape cases, child protection and domestic violence cases, and there have been issues of the implementation of 

the Pathfinders.  There have been teething problems.  The MPS are working through those issues. 

 

I can absolutely tell you and I hope you feel confident that the evaluation is not going to be evaluating it and 

getting the answer we are expecting.  It will be an evaluation based on data.  It will be an evaluation based in 

terms of response times, making sure that the fundamental contract the MPS has with the public around 

ensuring that in an emergency they are there, to make sure that that happens.  There will be a robust 

evaluation.  We are looking at what the issues have been, how they can be worked through and then there will 

be decisions that will be taken once those issues have been worked through.  We are having those 

conversations with the Chief Executives and the Leaders as well so that they understand where we are on this.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  You are giving me assurance that it is an evidence-based evaluation? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Absolutely, yes. 

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Will the evaluations be published? 

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  I cannot see why they would not be published 

because you have to have some confidence.  Where it can be published, we should be as transparent and 

accountable as possible because this is a restructure that everybody is very interested in.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  I am coming in rather new.  If I 

might, just to say they are Pathfinders.  They were started probably in a way that people would not think was 

ideal, for a variety of reasons.  There are some hard yards being done in those Pathfinders.  Undoubtedly, some 

of the challenges they have faced, if we go to the next stage with others, they will not face those.  They are 

being used as Pathfinders to iron out the really big challenges, which is not to downplay the challenges that 

the officers are feeling in parts of the Pathfinders because it is hard work, but they are Pathfinders.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Thanks for that.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Sorry, one other thing I would also add is that 

with the officers that I have talked to, one of the key issues we have to understand and drill down on is: are 

the problems and the pressures that the officers in those Pathfinders are facing because of the model or 

because of the demand and the capacity that the MPS has as a force?  That is what we have to iron out.  At 

the same time as the Pathfinders and working through the challenges, we are seeing an increase in crime.  That 

is not only for the Pathfinders, it is across London.  We are seeing an increase in demand.  There are issues that 

every bit of London is feeling and then there are specific issues and challenges around that model.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  There are only two particular things I would mention.  The first is community 

engagement, which does not seem to have been as effective as it used to be.  Certainly, looking at the 

community engagement with music in the recent incidents, I have had a far better response and information 

feedback from Barnet than I have from the combined borough, Camden-Islington.  I would have expected 

probably something quite similar. 

 

Page 43



 

 

The other thing is on response.  I probably only get the complaints when you do not respond rather than 

compliments when you do but, again, that is something that needs to be looked at.   

 

There have also been reports, Commissioner, that suggestions are the police will not be doing things that you 

have done in the past or doing things differently.  Would you like to comment on that? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Not very much, only to say that is 

obvious.  We have always changed.  We have always moved on.  We have always tried to keep up with the 

outside world.  As an example, we are getting more and more things online.  Most people will really like that.  

Other people will say, “No, I absolutely do not want to do that”.  We cannot potentially do everything, of 

course, and we have talked about this.  Lots of demand, increasing.  Lots to think about.  Keeping London 

safe.  There may be some things that we choose, decide and announce we are not going to provide that service 

to that level in that way that you have become used to.  In the face of the terrorist threat and with the other 

challenges we have, and with a new Commissioner, people should not necessarily be surprised by that.  I do not 

have, right now, something that I am saying is stopping.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  You do not have a list of things?  For example, it has been suggested that burglary 

may not be investigated if there is no obvious chance of catching somebody.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We have not said exactly that.  

What I said - and I am afraid again maybe I put it slightly clumsily - was that in the future breaking into a shed, 

as I understand it, will be classified as a burglary.  Literally breaking the lock on a shed will be an attempted 

burglary.  In the past, we always sent a police officer to any burglary.  In my view, when a shed lock has been 

broken and there does appear to be absolutely no other information available, I am not going to guarantee - it 

is likely - that you will always get a police officer.  The public will understand that kind of decision.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  I can understand that.  What about where somebody has had their house broken into 

rather than their shed? 

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  We need to work through all 

these things.  Burglary is an incredibly disagreeable and sometimes hugely impactful crime and we will need to 

look right across our crime types on a case-by-case basis.  Vulnerable people who need our help will get it.  

Serious crime will be dealt with seriously.  At the moment, I have no intention of not sending a police officer to 

the burglary of a house but it might be that a forensics person is a better person to send and so I am not going 

to give a cast-iron guarantee on that.  We need to look at how we provide our services in terms of what we 

think is an effective way to cover a very broad front, as we have discussed this morning, within the resources 

that we can see we have.   

 

Andrew Dismore AM:  Just to wrap up this section of the questioning, the bottom line is that if we do not 

get more money, we are going to have fewer police officers in London? 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Potentially, yes.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Yes.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Yes. 

 

Craig Mackey QPM (Deputy Commissioner, Metropolitan Police Service):  Yes.   

 

Page 44



 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  We have now reached the end of that set of questions.  Thank you, 

Andrew, for freestyling at the end and covering lots of important subjects. 

 

Certainly, it is pleasing that the Government has withdrawn the review but clearly - and Craig put it perfectly 

well - the flat cash of that £400 million or, in Craig’s example, £1,000 to pay for four years is a great concern 

to this Committee.  We are on record, we have written to the Government and it is a settled view of the 

Committee and indeed this new Committee, hopefully, that we will be lobbying on behalf of the service.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  If the reports are correct that they have 

withdrawn the funding review, I would welcome you writing again to say, “That is one thing but we still have 

these issues around the budget”.  It cannot be spun that this has protected the MPS budget because it will not 

have. 

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  I will certainly be consulting the leads to pursue that.   

 

Sophie Linden (Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime):  Thank you.  That would be very helpful.   

 

Cressida Dick CBE QPM (Commissioner of Police of the Metropolis):  Could I just add, Chairman?  Quite 

clearly, the world has changed in the last 12 weeks.  When you last met, you were concerned about 

£400 million.  The world is now different.  Everybody knows it.   

 

Steve O’Connell AM (Chairman):  Yes, absolutely.  Thank you again for the answers. 

 

 

Page 45



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 46



                                                                      

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Summary List of Actions  
 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 20 July 2017 
 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out for noting actions arising from previous meetings of the Committee.  

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1 That the Committee notes the completed and ongoing actions arising from previous 

meetings of the Committee, as listed in the report. 

 

 

Meeting of 21 June 2017 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

9 Question and Answer Session with MOPAC 

and the MPS 

 

During the discussion, the Commissioner, 

Metropolitan Police Service (MPS), undertook to 

provide the Committee with  

 Provide data on the number of websites 

that the MPS has taken down to date as 

part of its counter terrorism work; 

 Confirm the proportion of police officers in 

response teams that will have Taser 

following the increase in Tasers announced 

on 20 June 2017; and 

 Provide a weblink for the operational 

guidelines on the use of Taser. 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued … 

 

 

 

Page 47

Agenda Item 4



 

 

 During the discussion, the Committee was 

informed that the Home Office had withdrawn 

the review of the Police Funding Formula but 

that the MPS was nevertheless facing a flat cash 

funding settlement which was of great concern 

to the Committee.  The Chairman, therefore, 

stated that he would consult with party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM 

about writing to the Government to reiterate 

the Committee’s agreed position that the MPS 

should be adequately funded to reflect the full 

range of its responsibilities. 

 

In progress Chairman and 

Scrutiny Manager 

10 Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

That authority be delegated to the Committee’s 

Chairman, Steve O’Connell AM, in consultation 

with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM to agree an annual 

report summarising the work of the Committee 

over the past year. 

 

 

 

 

Completed.  See 

Appendix 1 to 

Agenda Item 5. 

 

 

 

Meeting of 29 March 2017 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

7 Question and Answer Session with MOPAC 

and the MPS 

 

During the discussion, the Acting Commissioner 

undertook to provide the Committee with the 

findings of the recent MPS training exercise on 

the river. 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 During the course of the discussion the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime undertook to 

provide regular updates to the Police and Crime 

Committee on borough mergers. 

Ongoing Mayor’s Office for 

Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC) 

 

Continued … 

Page 48



 

 

8 Police and Crime Committee Work 

Programme 

 

The Committee delegated authority to the 

Chairman, in consultation with the party Group 

Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, 

to agree arrangements for a site visit to the MPS 

training centre in Hendon to observe the 

facilities for the training and development of 

officers. 

 

 

 

 

The visit will take 

place in the 

Autumn. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Scrutiny Manager 

 

 

Meeting of 23 February 2017 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

7 Q&A with MOPAC and the MPS 

 

During the course of the discussion the Deputy 

Commissioner, MPS, undertook to: 

 Provide more detail about the number of 

people arrested under Section 136 of the 

Mental Health Act; 

 Report back to the Committee on whether 

any of the 48-hour deaths in custody were 

related to a Section 136 arrest; 

 Look into issues raised by the Committee 

around dignity of detainees in custody 

suites; 

 Provide feedback from Police Officers 

involved in the Pathfinder pilots for the 

merger of Borough Command Units; 

 Provide data for the detection and arrest 

rates for moped related crime; 

 Provide data on the reward scheme offered 

under Operation Viper for intelligence in 

relation to gun crime; 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Continued … 

 

 

 

Page 49



 

 

  

 Check whether anti-Semitic hate crime and 

Islamaphobic were sub-sets of faith hate 

crime;  

 Provide the Committee with the figures for 

hate crime recorded by the British 

Transport Police and City of London Police;  

 Separate the data collected for racist and 

religious hate crimes and to further 

breakdown the data by age and gender;  

 Provide data on the number of arrests and 

convictions for racist and religious hate 

crimes. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 9 February 2017 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

7 Tackling Allegations of Electoral Fraud and 

Malpractice 

 

During the course of the first discussion, the 

Chief Executive, Electoral Commission, agreed to 

provide: 

 A breakdown of electoral fraud cases by 

type for London and the UK over the last 

three years; and 

 The materials used for training Police 

Officers at the annual single point of 

contact seminar and the biennial 

roundtable. 

Following a suggestion, the Chief Executive, 

Electoral Commission, also agreed when the 

Electoral Commission’s guidance is reviewed to 

look into the issue of Police Officers wearing 

body-worn cameras when they are on duty 

outside a polling station. 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

Electoral 

Commission 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Electoral 

Commission 

 

 

 

Continued … 

 

 

Page 50



 

 

 During the course of the first discussion, 

Commander Cundy, Special Enquiry Team, MPS 

agreed to provide the email trail between the 

MPS and MOPAC regarding the information set 

out in Appendix A of the letter from the Deputy 

Mayor for Policing and Crime, which had been 

appended to the Committee’s report. 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MOPAC 

(See letter attached 

at Appendix 1 to 

Item 4 of the 

29 March 2017 

agenda) 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 19 July 2016 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

 Question and Answer Session with MOPAC 

and the MPS 

 Provide a summary of the types of claims 

against the MPS and whether they had 

increased, and confirm the MPS budget for 

claims. 

 

 

 

In progress. 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Meeting of 3 March 2016 

 

Minute 
item 

Subject and action required Status Action by 
 

5 Victims and Vulnerability 

 

During the course of the discussion, the 

representatives from the MPS undertook to 

provide: 

 An update on the MPS’s modelling for the 

framework for the transfer of 

commissioning and budgetary 

responsibility for custody healthcare 

services, including liaison and diversion 

and mental health services; and  

 Information about how long the Rapid 

Assessment Interface and Discharge 

(RAID) pilot would continue. 
 

 

 

In progress 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

MPS 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 51



 

 

Complaints about the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the Deputy Mayor for Policing 

and Crime (DMPC) 

 

Subject and action required Status Action by 

 

Deadline, 

if 

applicable  

Complaints about the Mayor's 

Office for Policing and Crime and 

the Deputy Mayor for Policing and  

Crime (DMPC) 

   

The Committee agreed, inter alia, to 

delegate to the Monitoring Officer all of 

the powers and functions conferred on 

it by the Elected Local Policing Bodies 

(Complaints and Misconduct) 

Regulations, with the exception of the 

functions set out at Part 4 of the 

Regulations which may not be 

delegated; and guidance on the 

handling of complaints which requires 

the Monitoring Officer to report, on a 

regular basis, the summary details (such 

as can be reported in public), on the 

exercise of any and all of these 

functions to the Committee for 

monitoring purposes. 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period from 

26 June 2017 to  

10 July 2017.  

 

Monitoring 

Officer 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

  

Transparency Procedure    

The Committee agreed Members 

disclose to the Executive Director of 

Secretariat or his nominated 

representative (within 28 days of the 

contact) details of any significant 

contact with the MPS and/or MOPAC 

which they consider to be relevant to 

the work of the Committee; and such 

disclosures be reported to the next 

meeting of the Committee. 

 

No disclosures to report for 

the period from  

26 June 2017 to  

10 July 2017.   

 

Executive 

Director of 

Secretariat 

n/a 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 52



 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

None 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer  

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

Email: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

  

Page 53

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank

Page 54



 

                                                                                                                                    

 

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 
 

 

Subject: Action Taken Under Delegated 
Authority  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat  
 

Date: 20 July 2017 
 

This report will be considered in public 
 
 
 

1. Summary  
 

1.1 This report outlines recent action taken by the Chairman of the Police and Crime Committee in 

accordance with the delegated authority to take decisions granted to him by the Police and Crime 

Committee at its meeting on 21 June 2017. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 
2.1 That the Committee notes the recent action taken by the Chairman of the Police and 

Crime Committee, Steve O’Connell AM, under delegated authority, following consultation 

with the party Group Lead Members and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, namely to agree the 

Committee’s summary of its work undertaken in the 2016-17 Assembly year. 

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the report, Work of the Police and Crime Committee in      

2016-17, attached at Appendix 1. 

 
 
3. Background  
 
3.1 At its meeting on 21 June 2017, the Police and Crime Committee resolved: 
 

That authority be delegated to the Chairman, in consultation with the party Group Lead Members 

and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, to agree an annual report summarising the work of the Committee 

over the past year. 

 

3.2 Following that meeting, the Chairman undertook consultation with the party Group Lead Members 

and Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM about a report summarising the work of the Committee in the    

2016-17 Assembly year. 

 

 

 

Page 55

Agenda Item 5



        

 

4. Issues for Consideration 
 

4.1 The report summarising the work of the Committee in the 2016-17 Assembly year is attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in the report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

List of appendices to this report: 

 

Appendix 1 – Work of the Police and Crime Committee in 2016-17.. 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers:  

Member Delegated Authority Form 817 

 

Contact Officer: Teresa Young, Senior Committee Officer 

Telephone: 020 7983 6559 

E-mail: teresa.young@london.gov.uk 

 

 

Page 56

mailto:teresa.young@london.gov.uk


 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Work of the Police and Crime 
Committee in 2016-17 

June 2017 

Appendix 1

Page 57



 

1 

 

Who we are 
 
The Police and Crime Committee is a cross-party body, 
chaired by Conservative Assembly Member Steve 
O’Connell. We examine the work of the Mayor and his 
Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC), to make sure 
that he is delivering on his promises to Londoners. We 

also investigate other issues relating to policing and 
crime in the capital.  
 
Our work involves a range of activities, including 
meetings with MOPAC, the Met and other stakeholders, 
site visits, written consultations and roundtable 
meetings. The committee meets formally, in public, 

twice a month:  
 
 One of these meetings is used to hold a question 

and answer (Q&A) session with the Deputy Mayor 
for Policing and Crime and the Met on current 
issues. 
 

 The other is used to consider a particular topic or 

aspect of policing and crime in greater detail, 
hearing from a range of people and often resulting 
in a report with recommendations to the Mayor. 

 
We routinely publish the findings and recommendations 
of our investigations, including the responses we 
receive from the Mayor. These can be found on our 

investigations page.  

Page 58

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-publications?topic=1402&order=DESC


 

2 

 

Your Police and Crime Committee 

members this year were 

  

Unmesh Desai 
AM 
(Deputy Chair) 
Labour 

Andrew 
Dismore AM 
Labour 

Len Duvall AM 
Labour 

Florence 
Eshalomi AM 
Labour 

Sian Berry AM 
Green 

Steve O’Connell 
AM 
(Chairman) 
Conservative 

Caroline Pidgeon 
MBE AM 
Liberal Democrat 

Keith Prince 
AM 
Conservative 

Peter Whittle 
AM 
UKIP 

Kemi 
Badenoch AM 
Conservative 

Page 59



 

3 

 

Steve O'Connell AM  
Chairman of the Police and 
Crime Committee 
 
I became Chairman of the London Assembly Police and 

Crime Committee at a time of great challenge for 
policing in the capital. Funding for policing is drastically 
reducing; overall crime is falling, but certain crimes, 
such as knife crime, gun crime, and serious violence are 
starting to rise; the number of specialist investigations 
the Metropolitan Police has to carry out is growing; and 
broader pressures on public services means that police 
officers are expected to do more in their day-to-day 

work.  
 
It is, therefore, more important than ever to ensure that 
those responsible for keeping us safe are doing so in the 
best ways possible. To this end, we seek to challenge 
and influence the decisions and actions being taken by 
the Mayor through his Office for Policing and Crime 

(MOPAC), the Met and the wider criminal justice 
system, on behalf of Londoners.  
 
This report summarises the work we have done this 
year. We have challenged slow progress and poor 
performance in areas such as custody healthcare, and in 
tackling electoral fraud; we have gathered evidence to 
influence the Mayor’s priorities on issues such as 

serious violence and violence against women and girls; 

Page 60



 

4 

 

and we have engaged with decision makers and 
Londoners on issues such as tackling knife crime, and 
safety at major events like Notting Hill Carnival. All of 
this work has contributed to the development of the 
Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan, which sets out his 
priorities for policing and justice over the next four 
years.  

 
In the year ahead, we will hold the Mayor to account on 
his commitments and continue to examine the issues 
that matter to Londoners. We plan to pay particular 
attention to the crimes that cause serious harm, such as 
gun and knife crime, and those that can increase the 
fear of crime in communities, such as antisocial 
behaviour. We will also look at the needs of specific 

groups of people in London, such as victims of crime 
and women who enter the criminal justice system, to 
ensure these are being met as far as is possible. 
 
Our work benefits from your involvement. I would 
encourage you, whether as an organisation or an 
individual, to contribute your views to our investigations 

and let us know about the policing and crime issues that 
concern you. While we can’t resolve individual cases, 
your input helps us to identify the issues and ask the 
right questions of the people that are tasked with 
keeping London a safe place to live, work, and visit. 
 
I would like to thank everyone that has been involved in 

supporting our work this year.  

Page 61



 

5 

 

Some of our achievements this year 
 
 Our investigation into safety at the Notting Hill 

Carnival created the impetus for a major review of 
crowd management arrangements at Carnival and 
of how the Carnival is run. 
 

 Our investigation into electoral fraud in the capital 
led to the Met undertaking a set of related 
investigations into historical allegations of electoral 
fraud at the 2014 Tower Hamlets Mayoral Election.  

 

 We continued our work into how people in police 
custody receive appropriate healthcare: be it for 

physical injuries, mental health issues or substance 
abuse. As a result of our work, the Mayor has 
agreed to a review of the Met’s custody healthcare 
arrangements. 

 
 We said that the Mayor needs a clear plan for 

supporting people with mental health needs that 
come into contact with the police. The Mayor has 

made new commitments on health and criminal 
justice, including a trial of new Mental Health 
Investigation Teams.  

 
 Our reports into Serious Youth Violence, Violence 

against Women and Girls, and tackling extremism all 
contributed to the development of the Mayor’s 

Police and Crime Plan. 

Page 62



 

6 

 

Serious Youth Violence: fear is 
fuelling violence among London’s 
young people 
 
One of our first major pieces of work was to look at the 
issue of Serious Youth Violence (SYV), in particular the 

increase in knife crime among young people.  
 
We examined the impact of SYV in the capital; how 
organisations work with young people exposed to 
violence; and the opportunities the Mayor has to help 
tackle and prevent it. 
 

We found a worrying rise in SYV in London. The number 
of victims of SYV is up around 20 per cent on four years 
ago: in 2015-16, that was over 6,000 victims. 
 
The number of victims of serious youth violence has been rising 
slowly since 2012-13 

 
Source: Metropolitan Police 

0

1000

2000

3000

4000

5000

6000

7000

8000

FY11-12 FY12-13 FY13-14 FY14-15 FY15-16

N
u

m
b

er
 o

f 
vi

ct
im

s 

Page 63



 

7 

 

Around half of all reports of youth violence in London 
involve a knife. We heard about the belief among some 
young people that they need to be prepared to defend 
themselves. This is fuelled, in part, by a perception of 
the number and severity of weapons on the streets, or 
by young people seeing or hearing about friends being 
hurt, and feeling they need to carry a knife for 

protection.  
 
Our report, Serious Youth Violence, published in 
September 2016, summarised the available data on SYV, 
and set out what needs to be done to tackle the rise in 
crime. This includes the need for:   
 
 a better understanding of the drivers of SYV 

 an increase in confidence amongst young people to 
report violence 

 more effective and appropriate messages to 
London’s young people about the realities of knife 
crime  

 
We concluded that if a serious incident occurs, there 

needs to be more of a concerted effort by the police 
and other agencies to reassure young people that they 
are safe, and to tackle the immediate sense of danger.  
 
Our report has helped to support discussions at a local 
level with young people about serious violence and 
knife crime. Our findings were also reflected in the 
Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan.  

Page 64

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/serious_youth_violence_report_-_london_assembly.pdf


 

8 

 

Violence against Women and Girls: is 
the Met equipped to deal with an 
increase in reporting? 
 
Reports of Violence against Women and Girls (VAWG) in 
London are rising as victims gain confidence to come 

forward. This is to be welcomed, but reporting has not 
translated into increased action against alleged 
perpetrators.  
 
We looked at the available data and spoke to 
organisations working with victims, to understand what 
more can be done to improve the way VAWG is tackled 

and how victims can be better supported.  
 
The low level of action against perpetrators suggests 
that the Met has struggled to keep up with the increase 
in reports. In the year to September 2016, for example, 
there were over 70,000 domestic offences reported, but 
only 28 per cent of these resulted in a charge, caution 
or other outcome. This compares to 41 per cent of the 

48,000 offences reported in the year to September 
2012. 
 
Our report, Violence Against Women and Girls, 
published in November 2016, concluded that while the 
increase in reporting should be seen as a success there 
is a risk that public confidence will be lost if the 

resources available cannot meet demand.  
 

Page 65

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/police_crime_committee_report_-_violence_against_women_and_girls.pdf


 

9 

 

We called on the Mayor to provide visible leadership on 
the issue. To ensure that services meet demand, we 
recommended, for example, that the number of 
Independent Sexual Violence Advisers is increased, to 
help survivors and guide them through the criminal 
justice process. 
 

The Mayor has committed to a refresh of the current 
VAWG strategy, and to a campaign to raise awareness 
of the issues and tackle unacceptable attitudes towards 
women and girls. 
 
While domestic offences are rising, the total number of people 
that have had formal action taken against them has remained 
fairly constant 

 
Source: MOPAC domestic and sexual violence dashboard 

 
  

0

10,000

20,000

30,000

40,000

50,000

60,000

70,000

80,000

Year to
Sept
2012

Year to
Sept
2013

Year to
Sept
2014

Year to
Sept
2015

Year to
Sept
2016

Domestic
Offences

Formal
action
taken

Page 66



 

10 

 

Preventing extremism: Do our 
existing strategies prevent the 
growth of extremism in London? 
 
Protecting people from extremism is becoming more 
challenging. With an increase in online radicalisation, 

for example, it is increasingly hard for public services to 
identify those who are vulnerable and at risk, and 
provide them with the necessary support. 
 
This year we called on MOPAC to make more progress 
in helping public services across the capital effectively 
tackle extremism.  

 
We heard about the good work being carried out at a 
local level to tackle extremism. Practitioners across the 
London boroughs are working together to find ways of 
delivering high quality interventions despite the support 
and funding provided by Government being patchy. 
 
We also found, however, that progress elsewhere has 

been slow. Over a year ago MOPAC, along with partners 
like the Met and the Home Office, set up the London 
CONTEST Board to oversee London’s counter-terror 
strategy. We were told that the Board needs to do 
more, and at a faster pace, to help improve information 
sharing, transparency and interventions for people at 
risk. 

 

Page 67



 

11 

 

We wrote to MOPAC recommending that it do more to 
make sure that all parts of London have the tools they 
need to support vulnerable individuals, by working with 
the Home Office to commission projects on a pan-
London basis, rather than in specific local authority 
areas. We also stressed the need for the Mayor to 
commit to regular, open and honest communication 

with the public about what is happening in London to 
tackle extremism.  
 
The report contributed to the development of the 
Mayor’s Draft Police and Crime Plan, with the findings 
and recommendations being directly reflected in the 
Plan. 
  

Page 68

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/s60471/Appendix%202%20-%20Letter%20from%20the%20Chairman%20to%20Sophie%20Linden%20regarding%20preventing%20extremism%20in%20London.pdf


 

12 

 

Notting Hill Carnival: time to stop 
dancing around the issue of public 
safety  
 
Notting Hill Carnival hits the headlines every year, but 
unfortunately often for the wrong reasons. Following 

reports that arrests at Notting Hill Carnival had reached 
record levels, we carried out an urgent piece of work 
looking at the existing policing and security 
arrangements, and to identify any improvements that 
can be made to keep people safe.  
 
What we found in terms of crime was worrying. While 

the number of crimes at Carnival has risen over recent 
years, what is most significant is the rise in serious and 
violent incidents. Last year, the Met Police recorded 151 
offences of violence against the person at Carnival: an 
86 per cent increase on 2010.  
 
One of the most obvious risks for Carnival is 
overcrowding, which makes keeping people safe from 

harm difficult. This is made all the more acute because 
of the number of people going to Carnival and its street-
based location. Public safety at Carnival is a growing 
problem.  
 
Putting these two issues together, we concluded in our 
report, Notting Hill Carnival: safer and better, that there 

is a clear and present risk to people’s safety and the 
reputation of Notting Hill Carnival. We said that if 

Page 69

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/pcc_report_-_notting_hill_carnival_safer_and_better.pdf


 

13 

 

Carnival is to thrive, those who 
know it best need to look at how 
the situation can be improved. We 
also highlighted our concern about 
the ability of the London Notting 
Hill Carnival Enterprise Trust Ltd—
the organisers of Carnival—to 

deliver the event effectively.  
 
We asked the Mayor to do two 
things: to help the Carnival Trust to 
become a stronger, more formal, 
organising body; and to work with 
them to look at what changes 
might improve the safety and 

quality of Carnival. We stressed 
that the Mayor and Carnival 
organisers should engage Londoners on any proposals 
for the future of Carnival. 
 
The report received a high level of public attention and 
Carnival organisers admitted that public safety is an 

issue that needs to be addressed. The investigation 
created the impetus for MOPAC to commission a major 
review of crowd management arrangements at Carnival 
and of how the Carnival is run, with changes expected 
this year.  

Members of the Police and 
Crime Committee visited 
Carnival 2016 

Page 70



 

14 

 

Electoral Fraud: fraud identified, but 
why no criminal prosecutions? 

 
In response to 
public concern, we 
held an urgent 

investigation to 
clarify the 
involvement of the 
Met and MOPAC in 
tackling allegations 
of electoral fraud in 
London. We paid 
particular attention to the 2014 Tower Hamlets Mayoral 

Election, following an Election Court Judgement that 
found that corrupt practices had taken place.  
 
We explored how allegations of electoral fraud are 
tackled and the types and volume of accusations in 
London in recent years. The Met told us about the 
process for an investigation and the difficulties of 

gathering sufficient evidence necessary to seek the 
prosecution of offenders. 
 
Following the discussion we wrote to MOPAC to request 
further investigation into the work carried out by the 
Met in relation to the Tower Hamlets Mayoral Election.  
 
In a significant move, the Deputy Mayor for Policing and 

Crime agreed to our recommendation and wrote to Her 

Page 71

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/letter_from_pcc_chairman_to_dmpc_re_election_fraud.pdf


 

15 

 

Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary to request an 
independent investigation.  
 
In addition, our work prompted the Met to launch its 
own investigation, Operation Lynemouth, to look at 
whether there is sufficient evidence to mount criminal 
prosecutions related to the 2014 Tower Hamlets 

Mayoral Election. 
  

Page 72



 

16 

 

Visits and other meetings 
 
 We examined the Met’s arrangements for 

healthcare in custody with a visit to Brixton Custody 
Suite. After seeing the facilities, we heard from staff 
about the challenges faced in respect of care: 
including staffing; a shortage of drug and alcohol 

workers; and difficulties in finding secure 
accommodation. The visit supported the 
committee’s questioning of MOPAC and the Met at 
its regular Q&A 
meetings, and, 
following the 
committee’s 

work, the Mayor 
committed in the 
Police and Crime 
Plan to a review 
of custody 
healthcare 
arrangements.  
 

 
 Following high profile incidents of violence at 

football matches at the London Stadium, we visited 
the Stadium to assure ourselves that the security 
procedures both in and around the Stadium were 
effective. We met with key personnel, toured the 
security facilities and heard about the 

improvements being made to the security plans. 
  

Committee members heard from staff at 
Brixton Custody Suite about the healthcare 
provided for detainees 

Page 73



 

17 

 

Our work for 2017-18 
 
In the coming year, we will hold the Mayor to account 
for his commitments in the Police and Crime Plan and 
continue to examine the issues that matter to 
Londoners.  
 

We will hold investigations into topics such as antisocial 
behaviour, gun crime, and women in the criminal 
justice system. 
 
We will also continue our regular examination or 
MOPAC and the Met through our monthly Q&A 
meetings, looking at topics such as counter-terrorism, 

knife crime, serious violence, hate crime and 
neighbourhood policing. 
  

Page 74



 

18 

 

How can I get involved in the 
committee’s work? 
 
 Contribute to our investigations. Details on our 

current work can be found on the Police and Crime 
Committee webpage.  

 
 Get in touch with us via 

policeandcrimecommittee@london.gov.uk. 
 

 Raise issues of concern with Assembly Members 
directly.  

 

 Tweet us @LondonAssembly and follow Committee 

Twitter conversations with #AssemblyPolice.  
 
 Come to a committee meeting at City Hall – you are 

welcome to come and observe our debates. 
 
 Watch our meetings live from your computer, 

mobile or tablet.  

 
  

Page 75

https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees/police-and-crime-committee
https://www.london.gov.uk/about-us/london-assembly/london-assembly-committees/police-and-crime-committee
mailto:policeandcrimecommittee@london.gov.uk
https://www.london.gov.uk/people/assembly
https://www.london.gov.uk/people/assembly
https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/mgCalendarMonthView.aspx?GL=1&bcr=1
http://www.london.gov.uk/media-centre/london-assembly
https://twitter.com/LondonAssembly


 

19 

 

 

 

Greater London Authority 
City Hall 

The Queen’s Walk 

More London 
London SE1 2AA 

Enquiries 020 7983 4100 
Minicom 020 7983 4458 

www.london.gov.uk  
 
 

Page 76



 

                                                                      

City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Question and Answer Session with the 
Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime and the 
Metropolitan Police Service  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 
 

Date: 20 July 2017 

 
This report will be considered in public 

 

 
 
1. Summary  
 
1.1 This report serves as a background paper to the monthly question and answer session with the 

Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) and the Metropolitan Police Service (MPS).  

 

 

2. Recommendations 

 

2.1 That the Committee notes the monthly report from the Mayor’s Office for Policing and 

Crime, attached at Appendix 1 to the report, as background to the question and answer 

session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police 

Service.  

 

2.2 That the Committee notes the report and answers given by the Deputy Mayor for Policing 

and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service to the questions asked by Members. 

 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee has agreed that it will hold monthly question and answer sessions with the head of 

MOPAC and invite representation from the MPS.   

 

3.2 MOPAC produces a monthly report providing an update on policing operational and financial 

performance, as well as the activities and decisions of MOPAC.  The report is used to inform 

questions to MOPAC and the MPS at monthly question and answer sessions.  The latest report is 

attached at Appendix 1. 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 77

Agenda Item 6



        

 

4. Issues for Consideration 

 

4.1 The Deputy Commissioner, Craig Mackey QPM, will join Sophie Linden, the Deputy Mayor for 

Policing and Crime, to answer questions on topical issues of importance to policing and crime in 

London.  The session is likely to cover the following topics: 

 Update on the Grenfell Tower fire; 

 The Mayor’s knife crime strategy; 

 Policing and security at Notting Hill Carnival; 

 Acid attacks; and 

 Spit guards. 

 

 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the GLA arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

 

Appendix 1 – MOPAC Monthly report  

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  
List of Background Papers: None. 

 

Contact Officer: Becky Short, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 4760 

E-mail: becky.short@london.gov.uk    
 

Page 78

mailto:becky.short@london.gov.uk


 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Report to the  
Police and Crime Committee 
 
 
Thursday, 20 July 2017  
10am 
City Hall 
 
 
Sophie Linden  
Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime 
 
 

Appendix 1

Page 79



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

1. INTRODUCTION 
 
This report is provided to the Police and Crime Committee (PCC) for its 20 July 2017 meeting, to assist 
the Committee to exercise its function in scrutinising and supporting the Mayor’s Office for Policing 
And Crime (MOPAC) and to hold it to account. 
 
This report covers the period from 10 June to 7 July 2017.  
 
In addition to the range of regular meetings and briefings with key stakeholders including senior MPS 
officers, below are the main activities I have been involved in and/or where MOPAC has been 
represented.  
 
 
2. MOPAC ACTIVITY REPORT 
 
I am sure you will join me in acknowledging the bravery and hard work of our emergency services whom  
over the past few weeks and months have shown the most incredible resilience, strength and bravery in 
protecting our city.  
 
The MPS has provided significant support to colleagues from the London Fire Brigade and Ambulance 
Service in the response to fire at the Grenfell Tower.  From the first calls of reporting the fire on 14 
June, officers have been on the scene, contributing to the rescue and recovery efforts in every way 
possible. Police officers are actively engaged in investigating the fire and are determined to ensure that 
if anyone has committed crimes relating to this tragedy, that they will be held accountable for them. 
 
The MPS deployed Family Liaison Officers (FLO) and recovered victims. Substantial police 
operation remains in place. 
 
On 19 June, in the early hours, hatred spilled out on to our streets, with the cowardly terrorist 
attack on worshippers near the Finsbury Park Mosque.  Our police, emergency services and 
Londoners themselves rallied round, swiftly tackling the assailant, giving aid to the injured, and 
standing together in shared revulsion at this dreadful attack on the freedoms that make London 
the greatest city in the world. Extremists will not divide us. Our great city never has, and never will 
be, cowed by terrorists. 
 
 
2.1 Knife Crime  
Tackling violence remains a priority and therefore, the Mayor and I launched the Knife Crime 
Strategy at the Dwaynamics boxing gym in Lambeth on 27 June.   
 
Before then, on 15 June, I met with Borough Commanders from five boroughs with high knife 
crime incidents to talk though their plans and how they align with the Mayor’s new knife crime 
strategy.  Alongside this, consultation events were held with Stop and Search Community 
Monitoring Group and Safer Neighbourhood Board Chairs on 14 June and with PCC Members on 
22 June. 

 
The Strategy focuses on young people up to the age of 24, and include commitments to: 
 
• Target lawbreakers 
• Offer ways out of crime 
• Keep deadly weapons off our streets 

 
 

Page 80



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

• Protect and educate young people 
• Stand with communities, neighbourhoods and families against knife crime 
• Support victims of knife crime 
 
The need to prioritise prevention and early intervention has came through strongly in the consultation, 
and protecting and educating young people is a strand of the Strategy. This will include work with 
schools and academies, and alternative education providers.  
 
We will also work to dissuade young people from carrying knives in the first place – ensuring that the 
Mayor and partners use consistent messaging to ensure that young people do not choose to pick up 
knives in the first place.  
 
2.2 Appointment and starting of the Victims Commissioner  
On 12 June, I met with Claire Waxman, the Victims Commissioner for London.  As Victims 
Commissioner, Claire will be working with central government, the Met Police, Crown Prosecution 
Service, Ministry of Justice and victims themselves to ensure their voices are heard, and improve their 
experience of the criminal justice system. 
 
2.3 HMIC Meeting 
On 12 June, I met with Matt Parr, Her Majesty’s Inspector for the National Region with responsibility 
for London.  We discussed recent Inspection activity and work specifically underway regarding child 
protection and Tower Hamlets. 
 
2.4 Bridge Partners Group 
On 14 June, I convened a meeting of Local Authorities, Metropolitan Police Service, City of London 
Police, City of London Corporation, London Councils, Department for Transport, Home Office, Centre 
for the Protection of National Infrastructure, Transport for London (TfL) and the Walking and Cycling 
Commissioner to consider the Hostile Vehicle Mitigation (HVM) measures in place on the eight bridges 
in central London.  We considered the rationale for the current deployments of temporary HVM and 
how to make vehicle mitigation safe, cost effective and appropriate to the wide range of road users. 
Following this meeting we will be discussing funding with the Home Office.  
 
2.5 Youth Employment fair 
On 15 June, I spoke at a pan London youth employment fair at Alexandra Palace attended by 
approximately 1,500 young people. The event was organised and hosted by Haringey Police and 
Community Boxing Club and also served as the opening of the Haringey Box Cup which is Europe’s 
large amateur boxing competition.  
 
2.6 MPS Annual Remembrance Ceremony 
On 19 June, I attended the MPS Annual Remembrance Ceremony to pay respects to those officers who 
have fallen in the line of duty. 
 
2.7 MPS People related meetings 
On the 22 June, I met with the Chair of the Black Police Association (BPA) and one of her Executive 
team members, as part of my quarterly meetings with the BPA to hear their views and discuss issues of 
concern. 
 
On 26 June, I met with the Unions that represent PCSOs and police staff in the MPS, as part of my 
quarterly meetings with them, to hear their views and any issues of note. 
 

 
 

Page 81



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

On 28 June, I met with the Chair of the Metropolitan Police Federation as part of my quarterly 
engagement with him, to understand the views of officers within the MPS.  

2.8 London Modern Slavery Steering Group 
On 26 June, I chaired the first London Modern Slavery Steering Group. This new forum convenes senior 
partners from a range of public, private and third sector organisations to provide strategic leadership in 
the fight against modern day slavery and human trafficking. The meeting took an in-depth look at the 
area of forced labour and labour exploitation. This is the fastest growing form of modern slavery 
nationally and the group worked through some of the key issues and gaps, looking to improve 
provision moving forward.  Other areas will be focused on at future meetings. 
 
 
2.9 Regular Meetings with Local Authorities, Partners and Leaders 
On 27 June, I attended the London Crime Prevention Fund Task and Finish Group at London Councils.  
This is a group of Local Government Cabinet Leads and Leaders, who advise on the development and 
delivery of the London Crime Prevention Fund (LCPF). At this meeting they fed their views back on the 
draft prospectus for the Co-Commissioning Fund, which is to be published soon, launching the £14.5m 
fund. 
 
On 5 July, I co-chaired the London Crime Reduction Board’s (LCRB) Delivery Management Group 
(DMG) meeting, with the Deputy Commissioner, Craig Mackey.  The meeting began with a discussion 
of the new structure for DMG, the links to the LCRB and the sub groups and how the meeting will 
assist the implementation of the Police and Crime Plan.  The sub-groups (Reducing Reoffending, Safer 
Children and Young People, VAWG, Victims and CONTEST) provided an overview and progress report.   
 
On 5 July, I met with Councillor Abdul Hai from Camden to discuss community safety priorities, policing 
and police resources in Camden following his appointment as Cabinet Member for Cohesion, Equalities 
and Community Safety. 
 
On 7 July, I attended the National CT Collaboration Agreement Strategic Board, which provides 
oversight for myself and fellow Police and Crime Commissioners of the Police CT network. 
 
On 12 July, I spoke with Dame Vera Baird, the Police and Crime Commissioner of Northumbria, about 
our respective APCC portfolios, particularly, in respect female offending, out of court disposals, and 
vulnerable victims.     

 
 

Page 82



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

3. PERFORMANCE  
Police data is now fully updated on the London data store. In addition, more police and crime data and 
information and interactive dashboards can be found at:  
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/mayors-office-policing-and-crime-mopac/data-and-research.   An 
overview of key crime types are below. 
 

  

MPS Recorded Crime

July- June 2015-16 2016-17 % change

Total Notifiable Offences (TNO) 748,602 724,915 -3.2%
TNO Victim Based 678,884 663,626 -2.2%

ASB Anti-Social Behaviour Calls 245,816 274,916 11.8%
Violence Against the Person 231,875 219,944 -5.1%
Homicide 108 116 7.4%
Youth Homicide 17 29 70.6%
VWI 74,721 69,854 -6.5%
Non-Domestic Abuse VWI 50,873 47,858 -5.9%
Serious Youth Violence 6,289 6,980 11.0%
Common Assault 64,884 60,503 -6.8%
Harassment 77,634 74,448 -4.1%
Domestic Abuse Incidents 149,858 135,181 -9.8%
Domestic Abuse Notifiable 75,067 69,252 -7.7%
Domestic Abuse VWI 23,848 21,996 -7.8%
Rape 5,852 6,082 3.9%
Other Sexual 10,918 10,436 -4.4%
Total Robbery 21,428 24,001 12.0%
Personal Robbery 19,760 22,285 12.8%
Business Robbery 1,668 1,716 2.9%
Total Burglary 69,545 65,490 -5.8%
Burglary in a Dwelling 43,959 42,624 -3.0%
Burglary in Other Buildings 25,586 22,866 -10.6%
Total Theft Person 33,218 38,070 14.6%
Theft Taking of MV 23,346 26,762 14.6%
Theft from MV 49,754 51,386 3.3%
Total MV 73,100 78,148 6.9%
Shoplifting 45,375 43,610 -3.9%

Criminal Damage Total Criminal Damage 63,900 59,462 -6.9%
Knife Crime 9,783 11,896 21.6%
Knife Crime With Injury 3,708 4,224 13.9%
Knife Crime With Injury victims under 25 (non DA) 1,663 1,873 12.6%
Gun Crime 1,863 2,397 28.7%
Gun Crime Discharged 258 295 14.3%
Racist and Religious Hate Crime 15,167 15,815 4.3%
Faith Hate Crime 1,940 1,937 -0.2%
Anti-Semitic 461 486 5.4%
Islamophobic 1,233 1,184 -4.0%
Sexual Orientation Hate Crime 1,878 1,889 0.6%
Transgender Hate 148 193 30.4%
Disability Hate Crime 502 559 11.4%

Dec-15 Dec-16 Change
"Good Job" Confidence 67% 69% 2%

Satisfaction 80% 78% -2%

May-16 May-17 Change % Change
Police Officers 31,601.41 30,822.23 -779.18 -2.47%

Police Staff 941,064.00 850,815.00 -90,249.00 -9.59%
PCSOs 156,556.00 1,387.69 -155,168.31 -99.11%

MSC (Specials) 3,204.00 2,537.00 -667.00 -20.82%

Workforce

TNO

Domestic Abuse

Sexual Offences

Confidence and 
Satisfaction

Robbery

Burglary

Weapons

Hate Crime

VAP

Theft and 
Handling

 
 

Page 83

https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/mayors-office-policing-and-crime-mopac/data-and-research


  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

4    Financial Performance report   
 
MOPAC do not produce a Quarter 4 report, but instead capture the final outturn as part of the 
Financial performance report for end of financial year.   
 
The end of year Financial performance report was provided to the Police and Crime Committee on 21st 
June 2017. 
 
The next Finance update will be presented to the 20th September meeting, when quarter one results 
will be available.  
  

 
 

Page 84



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

5. CORRESPONDENCE AND MAYOR’S QUESTIONS  
 
MOPAC manages and prioritises all Mayor’s questions and correspondence received to ensure that it is 
meeting its obligation to respond to a high quality and in a timely manner. 
 
5.1 Mayor’s Questions (MQs)  
Mayor’s questions  Total received Responded to within 

the GLA agreed 
timeframe 

In percentage 
terms 

April 2017 No MQs in April 
May 2017 No MQs in May 
June 2017 101 92 91% 
 
 
 
5.2 Correspondence received and responded to within 20 days 
Months Correspondence 

received 
Number responded to 
within 20 working days 

In percentage 
terms   

April 2017 155 99 64% 
May 2017* 3510 3467 99% 
June 2017* 3178 3153 99% 
 
 
 
* May/June 2017 enquiries includes 6,250 Al Quds emails received and replied to in batches 
  

 
 

Page 85



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

6 MOPAC BUSINESS AND MEETINGS 

In the last month, my office and I have had a range of meetings with key stakeholders and MPS officers 
in support of the Mayor.  
 
 
6.1 Regular Meetings with: 

• the Mayor and his Team 
• the Commissioner and deputy Commissioner 
• MPS Senior Officers 
• Partners including local authorities, criminal justice agencies, government departments, policing 

bodies, service providers and community groups. 
 
Meetings are covered in section 2 and 6.1.  
 
 
6.2 Decisions 
The following formal decisions have been made since the last report: 
 
Policing and Crime Decision 

(PCD) Number 
Formal Decisions made 

PCD 132 Investigative Coaches 
PCD 139 National Business Crime Hub 
PCD 170 Digital Policing Solution Provider Framework 
PCD 174 Integrated Victims Service Portfolio Resource Plan 
PCD 183  Annual Debt Write Off 2016/17 
PCD 186 Red Alert Project 
PCD 188 Safer Neighbourhood Board Funding 2017/18 
PCD 197 Undercover Policing Inquiry eDiscovery Software 
PCD 198 Data Centre Exit Programme 
PCD 199 Procurement of Microsoft Custom Support Agreement 

PCD 200 
Renewal of Police Services Agreements for Heathrow Airport Ltd and 
London City Airport 

PCD 201 Emergency Services Network Strategic Project Team 
PCD 203 2017 MOPAC Small Grants Fund for Victims Services 

PCD 209 
Application for Financial Assistance for the legal representation of 
serving police officers 

PCD 210 Value Added Reseller Contract Award 
PCD 212 Plans for tackling domestic abuse in London post June 2017 
PCD 213 Secure Enterprise Gateway Contract Extension   
PCD 216 Contract Award for Supply of Discreet Cars 

PCD 218 
Initiation of a New Tendering Exercise for a National Police and 
Emergency Services Framework Agreement for Electronic Security, 
Control Room Systems and Audio Visual Systems 

 
 

 
 

Page 86



  
 MOPAC report to Police and Crime Committee – 20 July 2017 

 

6.3 Future MOPAC meeting 
 
Date  MOPAC Meeting 

 
21July 2017 Justice Matters – Mental Health (Rescheduled) 
6 July 2017 Investment Advisory Board 
 
 

 
 

Page 87



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 88



 

                                                                    

 
City Hall, The Queen’s Walk, London SE1 2AA 
Enquiries: 020 7983 4100 minicom: 020 7983 4458 www.london.gov.uk 

 

Subject: Police and Crime Committee Work 
Programme  

 

Report to: Police and Crime Committee  
 

Report of:  Executive Director of Secretariat 

 
Date: 20 July 2017 

This report will be considered in public 

 
 
 
1. Summary  

 

1.1 This report sets out progress on the Police and Crime Committee’s work programme. 

 

 

2. Recommendation 
 

2.1  That the Committee agrees its updated work programme as set out in the report. 

 

2.2 That the Committee agrees the terms of reference for its scrutiny review of Gun Crime in 

London, as set out in paragraph 4.6 of this report and the scoping paper, attached at 

Appendix 1. 

 

2.3 That the Committee agrees the terms of reference for its scrutiny review of Women 

Offenders in London, as set out in paragraph 4.8 of this report and the scoping paper, 

attached at Appendix 2. 

 

2.4 That the Committee notes its quarterly monitoring report attached at Appendix 3. 

 

2.5 That the Committee agrees, in relation to urgent matters only, a general delegation of 

authority in respect of the Committee’s powers and functions (apart from those that 

cannot under the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 be delegated) to the 

Chairman of the Committee, in consultation with party Group Lead Members and 

Caroline Pidgeon MBE AM, from the close of this meeting until the next meeting of the 

Committee, scheduled for 6 September 2017. 
 
 

3. Background  
 
3.1 The Committee’s work programme is intended to enable the Committee to effectively fulfil its roles 

of holding the Mayor’s Office for Policing and Crime (MOPAC) to account and investigating issues 

of importance to policing and crime reduction in London.  The Committee’s work involves a range of 

Page 89

Agenda Item 7



        

activities, including formal meetings with MOPAC, the Metropolitan Police Service (the MPS) and 

other stakeholders, site visits, written consultations and round table meetings. 

 

3.2 The Committee will usually meet twice a month.  One of the monthly meetings is usually to hold a 

question and answer (Q&A) session with the Deputy Mayor for Policing and Crime.  The 

Commissioner of the MPS has been invited to these meetings.  The Committee will primarily use 

Q&A meetings to investigate topical issues and review MPS performance, including consideration of 

MOPAC’s approach to holding the MPS to account.  

 

3.3 The Committee’s other monthly meeting is used to consider a particular topic or aspect of policing 

and crime in greater detail.  These investigations will be conducted either by the full Committee or 

working groups.  Working groups will have delegated authority to prepare reports on the 

Committee’s behalf in consultation with party Group Lead Members.  Full reports will be approved 

and published by the full Committee. 

 

 

4. Issues for Consideration  

 

4.1 The work programme has been designed to proactively examine issues of interest but also allows for 

flexibility to respond to topical issues and for the Committee to react to MOPAC’s work programme. 

Topics will be added to the timetable for Q&A meetings as they arise.   
 

4.2 A proposed updated work programme for the Committee is set out below: 

 

August No meetings 

September Wednesday 6 September 2017 

Thematic meeting – Antisocial 

behaviour 

Wednesday 20 September 2017 

Q&A meeting 

October Thursday 5 October 2017 

Thematic meeting – Gun crime in 

London 

Tuesday 17 October 2017 

Q&A meeting 

November Wednesday 1 November 2017 

Thematic meeting – Women 

offenders in London  

Wednesday 15 November 2017 

Q&A meeting 

 

4.3 The Committee’s thematic meeting on 6 September 2017 will be used for a second discussion with 

invited guests on antisocial behaviour in London. It will build on evidence heard at the first meeting 

and consider the demand antisocial behaviour places on the MPS and other partners, how these 

partners work together to tackle and prevent antisocial behaviour and what more the Mayor and the 

MPS can do to help tackle antisocial behaviour in London. 

 

4.4 The Committee normally meets with the Mayor on an annual basis to discuss issues related to 

policing and crime. The Mayor has been invited to attend the Committee’s meeting on 

20 September 2017 alongside MOPAC and the MPS. This will give Members the opportunity to hear 

about the Mayor’s initial progress on the commitments in the Police and Crime Plan 2017-21, and 

raise any topical issues for discussion.  

Page 90



        

 

4.5 It is proposed that the Committee’s meeting on 5 October explores gun crime in London. The 

number of gun crime offences in London fell significantly between 2010 and 2015.  However, in the 

last two years it has started to rise again.  Although recorded offences remain lower than in 2010, it 

is nonetheless important to understand why they have started to rise again and how the MPS is 

responding.  The meeting will be used to explore the nature and extent of gun crime in London and 

the possible drivers associated with the rise in gun crime offences; examine the Met’s response to 

the rise in gun crime offences and learn from previous successes; and consider how MOPAC can 

further support the MPS and partners to reduce gun crime.  

 

4.6 The Committee is recommended to agree the scoping paper on Gun Crime in London attached at 

Appendix 1 to this report and the terms of reference for its scrutiny review, as set out below: 

1. To assess the extent and nature of gun crime in London; 

2. To consider the possible drivers associated with the rise in gun crime offences in London; 

3. To examine the MPS’s response to the rise in gun crime offences and learn from previous 

successes; and 

4. To examine how MOPAC can further support the MPS and partners to reduce gun crime.  

 

4.7 The Committee’s thematic meeting on 1 November will be used for a discussion on women offenders 

in London.  While women make up a small amount of the overall number of offenders in London, 

they are, however, a distinct group that often have very specific needs in relation to preventing 

offending and rehabilitation.  This meeting will examine whether the current and proposed approach 

to dealing with women offenders in London is an effective one, particularly in light of the closure of 

HMP Holloway in July 2016.  

 

4.8 The Committee is recommended to agree the scoping paper on Women Offenders in London 

attached at Appendix 2 to this report and the terms of reference for its scrutiny review, as set out 

below: 

1. To examine the extent to which the closure of HMP Holloway has affected that rehabilitation 

of London’s women in prison; 

2. To examine the provision of specialist support services for women offenders, in particular 

women’s centres, across London; and 

3. To assess the current and potential effectiveness of MOPAC’s proposals to support the 

rehabilitation of women offenders through a Female Offender Service.  

 

4.9 The Committee regularly receives a monitoring report summarising the data available to MOPAC, the 

MPS and other sources in relation to the Police and Crime Plan priorities.  The latest quarterly 

monitoring report which includes data for the period ending March 2017 is attached at Appendix 3 

for noting. 

 
 

5. Legal Implications 
 

5.1 The Committee has the power to do what is recommended in this report. 

Page 91



        

 

 

6. Financial Implications 
 

6.1 There are no financial implications to the Greater London Authority arising from this report. 

 

 

 

List of appendices to this report:   

 

Appendix 1 – Scoping paper for Gun Crime in London. 

 

Appendix 2 – Scoping paper for Women Offenders in London. 

 

Appendix 3 – Quarterly Monitoring Report for the period ending March 2017. 

 

 

Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985  

List of Background Papers:  None 

 

Contact Officer: Janette Roker, Scrutiny Manager 

Telephone: 020 7983 6562 

E-mail: janette.roker@london.gov.uk   

 

Page 92

mailto:janette.roker@london.gov.uk


Police and Crime Committee Scoping Paper 

Gun crime in London 
Background 
 
The number of gun crime offences in London fell significantly between 2010 and 2015. But in the 
last two years it has started to rise again. Although recorded offences remain lower than in 2010, 
it is nonetheless important to understand why they have started to rise again and how the Met is 
responding, particularly in light of the Commissioner’s comments about prioritising violent crime.   
 
The Met’s definition of gun crime 
The Met publishes two gun related offences figures; gun crime and gun crime with discharged 
firearm. 
 
Gun crime: falls within the four major offence categories of: Violence Against the Person, Sexual 
Offences, Robbery, and Burglary - and - a feature code identifying a firearm usage has been added 
to the crime report1 - and - the firearm used is not CS gas or pepper spray. 
Or  
The offence is one of Possession of Firearms with Intent, where the firearm involved is not CS gas 
or pepper spray. 
 
Gun crime with discharged firearm: All offences of gun crime where a firearm has been fired. 
 
Gun crime sanction detection rate (SDR): This is a percentage of all gun crime sanction detections 
out of all gun crime offences.2   
 
Level of gun crime in London 
Since 2015 there has been a sharp rise in gun crime offences in London. 2,493 gun crime offences 
were recorded in the year to February 2017, compared to 1,625 in the year to February 2015. 
 
The Met specifically records a subset of gun crime offences where a firearm has been discharged. 
Firearm discharges have followed a similar pattern to overall gun crime. In the year to February 
2010 there were 719 offences, compared to a low of 268 offences in the year to February 2016. 
But in the year to February 2017 there were 317 recorded offences: an 18 per cent increase 
against the previous year. 
 

1 Firearm feature codes identify gun crime if: 
a. A firearm is seen during the offence 
b. Physical evidence  such as bullet, injury or damage is found at the scene that a victim, witness or police officer 
believes was caused by a firearm 
c. An object is presented as a firearm but obscured e.g. in a bag or pocket 
d. A firearm is intimated and the victim is convinced of the presence of a firearm. 
2 Sanction Detection Rate is the percentage total number of detections out of the total number of offences.  A 
‘Sanction Detection’ is the term used for police-generated detections (term used for resolved cases) as opposed to 
those resolved through administrative means. It is assumed that the accused receives a punishment or ‘sanction’ from 
the police. Sanction Detections include cases where an accused person is: charged, cautioned, summonsed, has 
offences taken in to consideration (TIC), issued with a Fixed Penalty Notice (e.g. Cannabis, retail theft), given a formal 
warning for cannabis possession. 

 
 

                                                 

Appendix 1

Page 93



Police and Crime Committee Scoping Paper 

Gun crime in London 
Chart 1: Gun crime offences fell significantly between 2010 and 2015, but are now rising 
again 

 
Source: London Datastore 

 
 

Chart 2: Gun crime with firearm discharge have risen in the past year  

 
Source: London Datastore 

 
 
 
 
 

0

500

1,000

1,500

2,000

2,500

3,000

3,500

4,000

year to
Feb-10

year to
Feb-11

year to
Feb-12

year to
Feb-13

year to
Feb-14

year to
Feb-15

year to
Feb-16

year to
Feb-17

Gun crime

0

100

200

300

400

500

600

700

800

GC with firearm discharge
offence

 
 

Page 94



Police and Crime Committee Scoping Paper 

Gun crime in London 

Drivers of gun crime 
Little is known about the drivers of gun crime in the capital. In September 2016, the previous 
Commissioner, Sir Bernard Hogan-Howe, offered some insights into the Met’s thinking on the 
drivers of increased gun crime. He said that the Met believed the “most likely cause is a higher 
level of supply for firearms” and that the “supply is changing”. He went on to say that in the 
previous year (2015) the Met had “seized more firearms than ever before”: 714 guns, which is 
around two per day.3  
 
In June 2016, Deputy Commissioner Craig Mackey told the Police and Crime Committee that the 
Met was testing a number of hypotheses: 
 

“Are there more firearms out there? Are there more firearms in circulation? Sadly, there is 
no national register that we can helpfully go to. We have to use a lot of proxy indicators to 
work it out. Is there more prevalence of people exchanging firearms with each other? Have 
those firearms always been there, are they the sort of thing that people have hidden or 
stashed away and for some reason a tension has arisen and there is a greater opportunity 
to do it? Are we getting more multiple discharges when weapons are fired more than 
once? There is a prevalence of those. There are a number of potential scenarios around 
it.”4 

 
The Met’s response 
Operationally, the Met has responded to the rise in gun crime with the establishment, in May 
2016, of Operation Viper.5 Viper is led by Trident and Gang Crime Command and consists of:  
• a team of 50 officers from the Serious and Organised Crime Command  
• uniformed officers from boroughs  
• the Task Force, including the Territorial Support Group and the Dogs Unit  
• an armed response unit from the Force Firearms Unit  
 
Operation Viper activities include high-visibility armed patrols, pro-active ANPR (Automatic 
Number Plate Recognition) operations, weapon sweeps, and “intelligence-led stop and search.” 
Viper teams also assist in educating young people about the dangers of carrying firearms. Viper 
officers are deployed into “priority boroughs”: currently Hackney, Lambeth, Southwark, Brent, 
Newham and Tower Hamlets. 
 
In February 2017, the Police and Crime Committee questioned the Deputy Commissioner about 
the effectiveness of the Met’s recent firearms surrender and #giveupyourgun campaign.6 He 
explained that the #giveupyourgun campaign was particularly targeted at those that may be 
holding a gun for a gang member. On the impact of firearms surrenders, he said that “it is very 

3 MOPAC Policing Matters – Performance, 28 September 2016 
4 PCC Q&A, 29 June 2016 
5 Operation launched to halt the rise in gun crime, Metropolitan Police Service, May 2016 
6 In a gun surrender, all weapons will go through analysis in order to check whether they are linked to any crimes.  

 
 

                                                 

Page 95

https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/policing_matters_-_performance_26_september_2016_transcript.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b14548/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%202%20-%20Transcript%20of%20QA%20held%20on%2029%20June%202016%20Wednesday%2029-Jun-2016%2014.00%20Police%20a.pdf?T=9
http://news.met.police.uk/news/operation-launched-to-halt-the-rise-of-gun-crime-166159


Police and Crime Committee Scoping Paper 

Gun crime in London 
hard to make a direct correlation other than the one that is probably the most obvious: it is the 
availability of weapons that lead to the increased level of discharges”.7  
 
Priority for the new Commissioner 
The new Commissioner has indicated that serious violence, including gun and knife crime, are 
likely to be key priorities for the Met going forward. Speaking recently about the rise in gun and 
knife crime offences, the Commissioner said that:  
 

“I’m not sure we can be sure it’s a trend. But if it is the case that gun crime and knife crime 
is going up, then that’s of huge concern to me, and it will mark out my commissionership 
trying to bear down on violence in general and those two crimes in particular.”8  

 
The Commissioner has also said she is prepared to increase the use of intelligence-led stop and 
search to prevent violent crime.9  
 
Role of the Mayor and the GLA 
One of the aims in the Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan is to reduce the number of gun crimes 
(including discharges). The Plan states that the Met will continue to work to disrupt the supply of 
firearms and bring those that use them to justice.  
 
Additionally, the plan commits MOPAC to support the Met to tackle gang crime, gun crime and 
knife crime more effectively in London through reviewing the MPS approach to gang crime, 
including the Gangs Matrix, and working with MPS Trident to strengthen the identification of 
young people who are at risk of serious youth violence. Reducing gun crime has been identified as 
a local priority for every borough.  
 
 
The investigation 
 
Proposed terms of reference 
 
1. To assess the extent and nature of gun crime in London 
2. To consider the possible drivers associated with the rise in gun crime offences in London 
3. To examine the Met’s response to the rise in gun crime offences and learn from previous 

successes 
4. To examine how MOPAC can further support the Met and partners to reduce gun crime  
 

7 PCC Q&A, 23 February 2017 
8 https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2017/apr/18/new-met-police-chief-cressida-dick-huge-concern-gun-knife-
crime 
9 https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2017/may/03/london-schools-urged-install-metal-detectors-help-stop-
knife-crime 

 
 

                                                 

Page 96

https://www.london.gov.uk/moderngov/documents/b15494/Minutes%20-%20Appendix%201%20-%20Transcript%20of%20QA%20Thursday%2023-Feb-2017%2010.00%20Police%20and%20Crime%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2017/apr/18/new-met-police-chief-cressida-dick-huge-concern-gun-knife-crime
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2017/apr/18/new-met-police-chief-cressida-dick-huge-concern-gun-knife-crime
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2017/may/03/london-schools-urged-install-metal-detectors-help-stop-knife-crime
https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2017/may/03/london-schools-urged-install-metal-detectors-help-stop-knife-crime


Police and Crime Committee Scoping paper 

Women offenders in London 
Background 

Women make up a small amount of the overall number of offenders in London. Women offenders 
are, however, a distinct group that often have very specific needs in relation to preventing 
offending and rehabilitation. Offending by women is commonly driven by drug and alcohol 
problems, mental health needs, coercive relationships, or financial difficulties and debt. Many 
women offenders have been victims of crime and many have dependent children.1  
 
There is an increasing recognition of the specific needs of women offenders and the need for a 
tailored approach in dealing with their offending and reoffending. Particular attention has been 
given to the need to reduce the use of custody for women. Research suggests, for example, that 
the impact of keeping women in prison—often on short sentences for non-violent crimes—can 
include families experiencing financial and housing problems; an increased risk of antisocial 
behaviour in children; and children being moved away from the family home.2 Many areas across 
the country have started to focus on reducing the number of women that are held in prison and 
dealing more effectively with women offenders in the community.  
 
Women’s offending in London 

• Around 30,000 of the total arrests made each year in London (15 per cent) are of women.3  
 

• The majority of prosecutions of women are for ‘summary’ offences, such as acquisitive crimes 
(e.g. theft, and robbery), fraud and drug offences.4 There are fewer serious or violent offences 
that could result in an offender being considered high-risk to the community.5 

 
• The Prison Reform Trust suggests that London differs most greatly from other parts of the 

country in its sentencing of women: mainly because it “sends a disproportionately high 
number of women to prison”.6 In 2015, nearly a quarter of London’s women offenders were 
sentenced to immediate custody, around the same as the West Midlands but more than other 
comparable and large forces.7  

 
• The most recent data available on reoffending covers the period up to June 2015. The rate of 

women’s reoffending in London is just below the national average: nearly 18 per cent, or 2,200 

1 Prison Reform Trust, Why focus on reducing women’s imprisonment?, February 2017 
2 Prison Reform Trust, Sentencing of Mothers, 2015 
3 Home Office, Police powers and procedures England and Wales year ending 31 March 2016; Arrest data for 2014-15 
and 2015-16, October 2016  
4 A summary offence is an offence that can be heard by a magistrate sitting alone, rather than a judge and jury. A 
summary offence can also be heard in the absence of the defendant. Summary offences are usually considered to be 
less serious offences.  
5 Prison Reform Trust, A proposal for the establishment of a women’s centre on the site of the existing visitors centre   
6 Mayor of London, Joint commission of a service for female offenders, December 2015  
7 Ministry of Justice Courts by criminal justice area (CSV) 2015 

 
 

                                                 

Appendix 2

Page 97

http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/Women/whywomen.pdf
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/sentencing_mothers.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/police-powers-and-procedures-england-and-wales-year-ending-31-march-2016
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/561973/arrest-police-powers-procedures-hosb1516-tables.ods
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/561973/arrest-police-powers-procedures-hosb1516-tables.ods
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/Portals/0/Documents/Women/Closure%20of%20HMP%20Holloway%20-%20Proposal%20for%20the%20Visitors%20Centre.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/what-we-do/mayors-office-policing-and-crime-mopac/governance-and-decision-making/mopac-decisions--70


Police and Crime Committee Scoping paper 

Women offenders in London 
women, reoffend within 18 months of their sanction (compared to a reoffending rate of 26 per 
cent for men).8  

 
What works in rehabilitating women offenders? 

It has been widely argued that the use of custody for women offenders is not effective in 
promoting rehabilitation. A review of vulnerable women in the criminal justice system by Baroness 
Corston in March 2007 concluded that “we must find better ways to keep out of prison those 
women who pose no threat to society and to improve the prison experience for those who do.”9  
 
The Corston report made a range of recommendations with the aim of creating a “distinct, 
radically different, visibly-led, strategic, proportionate, holistic, woman-centred, integrated 
approach” to help women offenders. This included, for example, a recommendation that the 
Government should develop a strategy to replace existing women’s prisons with suitable, 
geographically dispersed, small, multi-functional, custodial centres.10  
 
Problem solving courts 
The introduction of ‘problem solving courts’ for women offenders is being trialled. The aim of 
these types of courts is to bring together “the authority of the court and the services necessary to 
reduce re-offending and address the issues which drive crime.”11 These courts: 
• work on a “particular issue (like drug addiction), with a particular group, on a particular crime 

type or in a particular neighbourhood” 
• focus on interventions like drug treatment or counselling which target the factors that lead 

people to crime, and monitor offenders to make sure that they are engaging with treatment12 
 
Women’s centres 
The use of women’s centres has been promoted as a way of preventing offending and reoffending. 
Women’s centres provide a single access point for a range of services for offenders and women at 
risk of offending. Among the services they supply are: 
• community sentences including ‘community payback’ and ‘specified activity requirements’ 
• counselling and psychological therapies 
• life skill training 
• support with court hearings 
• specialist support for domestic violence or sexual abuse 

8 Reoffending statistics are published by the Ministry of Justice. A proven offence is one that results in the offender 
receiving a sanction, such as a reprimand, warning, caution or conviction. A re-offence is when this happens for a 
second time or more in the 18 months following the original sanction. The data available is therefore subject to a time 
lag, so that it can be judged whether reoffending has occurred from the point at which a person is released from 
custody or has received another sanction. 
9 Home Office, A report by Baroness Jean Corston of A review of women with particular vulnerabilities in the Criminal 
Justice system, March 2007  
10 Home Office, A report by Baroness Jean Corston of A review of women with particular vulnerabilities in the Criminal 
Justice system, March 2007  
11 Centre for Justice Innovation, What are problem solving courts?  
12 Centre for Justice Innovation, What are problem solving courts?  

 
 

                                                 

Page 98

http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/ProjectsResearch/Women/History/Corstonreport
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/ProjectsResearch/Women/History/Corstonreport
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/ProjectsResearch/Women/History/Corstonreport
http://www.prisonreformtrust.org.uk/ProjectsResearch/Women/History/Corstonreport
http://justiceinnovation.org/portfolio/what-are-problem-solving-courts/
http://justiceinnovation.org/portfolio/what-are-problem-solving-courts/


Police and Crime Committee Scoping paper 

Women offenders in London 
• accredited courses13 

 
The HM Inspectorate of Probation’s thematic review of services in the community for women who 
offend (2016) found that “women’s centres are particularly vulnerable and some have already lost 
funding, yet they have an important role to play. We found cases where they had been pivotal in 
turning women away from crime and helping them to rebuild their lives.”14 
 
Specialist provision for women offenders in London 
A range of specialist organisations in London are involved in providing services for women 
offenders. Many focus on specific issues such as employment or housing, but there are also a 
number of women’s centres that aim to provide a holistic approach (see box below). Provision for 
female offenders in the capital has, become increasingly acute as a result of the closure of HMP 
Holloway. 
 
The Beth Centre, Lambeth 
The centre works to reduce re-offending rates among women offenders; increase positive familial 
relationships and increase the use of community sentences, rather than custody. Case Managers 
provide support based on women’s individual needs, including advice, advocacy and support 
around issues such as housing, benefits, education, health, leaving prison and exiting prostitution. 
There is a comprehensive group workshop timetable, where women learn independent living skills 
and increase positive social networks.15 
 
The Minerva Project, West London 
The Minerva Project works with women who are either leaving custody or serving their sentence 
in the community.16 The project delivers: 
• advocacy and support to women who have or are at risk of breaking the law 
• support and advocacy for women through the justice system and through the court process 
• support services and activities to women and girls both during and after statutory supervision 

by the Probation Service or Youth Offending Service 
• advocacy and support to women experiencing issues with debt, family relationships, social 

isolation, health, substance use, domestic or sexual violence and mental health17 
 
Closure of HMP Holloway 
HMP Holloway was Europe’s largest female prison, based in north east London. It had capacity for 
around 500 women offenders and young offenders. The closure of Holloway was announced in the 
Comprehensive Spending Review in November 2015. In a written statement, the then Justice 

13 National Audit Office, Funding of women’s centres in the community, May 2013  
14 HM Inspectorate of Probation, A thematic inspection of the provision and quality of services in the community for 
women who offend September 2016 
15 Women in Prison, The Beth Centre  
16 Mayor of London, Mayor’s £500,000 boost to services tackling female reoffending, January 2017  
17 Women’s Breakout, ADVANCE Advocacy – The Minerva Project 

 
 

                                                 

Page 99

https://www.nao.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/05/Funding-of-Womens-Centres-in-the-Community.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2016/09/A-thematic-inspection-of-the-provision-and-quality-of-services-in-the-community-for-women-who-offend.pdf
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmiprobation/wp-content/uploads/sites/5/2016/09/A-thematic-inspection-of-the-provision-and-quality-of-services-in-the-community-for-women-who-offend.pdf
http://www.womeninprison.org.uk/services/in-the-community.php?s=1970-01-01-the-beth-centre
https://www.london.gov.uk/press-releases/mayoral/mayor-boosts-services-to-tackle-female-reoffending
http://womensbreakout.org.uk/projects/advance-advocacy-the-minerva-project/


Police and Crime Committee Scoping paper 

Women offenders in London 
Secretary said Holloway's "design and physical state" did not provide the best environment for the 
rehabilitation of offenders.18  
 
Holloway closed in July 2016. London’s women offenders are now held in HMP Bronzefield in 
Surrey (23 miles away); in HMP Downview on the Surrey border (19 miles away); and in some 
cases over 90 miles away in HMP Peterborough, or further. 
 
Many organisations expressed concern about implications of the decision to close Holloway on 
London’s women offenders. The IMB for Holloway, for example, was surprised at the decision as it 
had seen an improvement in conditions and the effective transition of Holloway into a local 
resettlement prison, and said that it was “worried about how the closure will affect offenders’ 
rehabilitation”. 
 
Role of the Mayor and the GLA 
The Police and Crime Plan specifically refers to female offenders as a target group for reducing 
reoffending. It highlights that “female offenders need services that are specifically tailored to 
these needs and their circumstances” and makes a commitment to divert low-risk women from 
the formal criminal justice processes through the design and pilot of a police-led triage service 
that, will direct women into specialist support services.19  
 
For those women who do need to be formally dealt with by the CJS, the Mayor has committed to 
“push for additional investment from partners, on top of £500,000 that MOPAC is investing, to 
expand access to specialist women’s centres so that female offenders across London have access 
to gender appropriate provision designed to tackle reoffending.”20 
 
MOPAC’s investment of £500,000 to boost services to tackle female offending was announced in 
January 2017. It intends to develop a new Female Offender Service, which builds on the work of 
the Minerva project. The Mayor has said that the new service will reach 950 female offenders 
across London. MOPAC’s funding aims to enhance support services in 10 London boroughs, 
including specialist care in the areas of domestic and sexual abuse, trauma counselling, 
employment support, parenting and housing.21 
 
The investigation 
 
Proposed terms of reference 
1. To examine the extent to which the closure of HMP Holloway has affected that rehabilitation of 

London’s women in prison. 

18 HM Government, Prisons announcement, 25 November 2015  
19 Mayor of London, A Safer City for all Londoners: Police and Crime Plan 2017-21, March 2017, page 74 
20 Mayor of London, A Safer City for all Londoners: Police and Crime Plan 2017-21, March 2017, page 74 
21 Croydon, Southwark, Lewisham, Lambeth, Hounslow, Brent, Ealing, Hammersmith & Fulham, Kensington & Chelsea, 
Westminster 

 
 

                                                 

Page 100

https://www.gov.uk/government/speeches/prisons-announcement
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_police_and_crime_plan_2017-2021.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/mopac_police_and_crime_plan_2017-2021.pdf


Police and Crime Committee Scoping paper 

Women offenders in London 
2. To examine the provision of specialist support services for women offenders, in particular 

women’s centres, across London. 

3. To assess the current and potential effectiveness of MOPAC’s proposals to support the 
rehabilitation of women offenders through a Female Offender Service.  
 

 
 

Page 101



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 102



 

Monitoring 
the Mayor’s 
policing and 
crime 
commitments 
 

July 2017 

Introduction 
• The Mayor’s Police and Crime Plan 2017-2021 marks a change in the 

priorities that the Metropolitan Police is expected to focus on, and in the way 
that crime statistics are monitored.  

• The previous plan contained a set of seven high volume crimes—the MOPAC 
7—that police officers were expected to work towards reducing, as well as 
targets for the criminal justice system and for budget savings.  

• The current plan focuses on high-harm, victim-centred crimes: domestic 
abuse, sexual offences, child sexual exploitation, knife crime, gun crime and 
hate crime. The plan sets no firm targets, but contains a range of measures 
that will be used to assess progress. 

Some of the key messages this quarter: 
• Overall, reports of crime are on an upward trend. There were 707,907  

reports of victim-based crime in the year to March 2017, a 5.1 per cent 
increase on the previous year.  

• Reports of domestic abuse did not increase in the year to March 2017, after 
several previous years of steady rises. Reports of sexual offences continue to 
rise, but prosecutions remain low. 

• Reports of both knife and gun crime have risen: knife crime has increased by 
24 per cent in the last year, and gun crime by 44 per cent. 

Police and  Crime Committee 

This quarterly report sets out the  
data to March 2017 on a range of 
crime types and policing issues in 
London.  
 
 
 

Contact: Will King, Financial and Policy Analyst  
Telephone: 020 7983 5596  Email: policeandcrimecommittee@london.gov.uk  

Appendix 3

P
age 103



2 

Total crime is rising in London but the sanction detection rate is falling  

Source: London Datastore 

Police and  Crime Committee 

1. A notifiable offence is any offence which has to be notified to the Home Office under statutory guidelines.  
2. 2. Sanction detection is an offence that has been formally cleared up, through bringing a charge, caution, reprimand, final warning or penalty 

notice 

600,000

650,000

700,000

750,000

800,000

850,000

Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

Crime is rising in London... 

Annual running total
notifiable offences

0%

5%

10%

15%

20%

Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

... while the sanction detection rate is falling 

Annual running average
sanction detection rate

P
age 104



3 

Reports of domestic abuse often result in no further action being taken 

Source: MOPAC domestic and sexual violence dashboard  

Police and  Crime Committee 

246,132                                               245,849 
There was a small drop in reports of domestic abuse in the 
year to March 2017 compared to the year to March 2016. 

76 per cent of all domestic abuse 
victims are female 

76 % 
24 % 

24 per cent of all domestic abuse 
victims are repeat victims 

The number of prosecutions for domestic abuse are low, with 
some suggesting that this shows the Met is stretched. 

Nearly 20 per cent of domestic abuse cases  
lead to a charge being made. However almost three 
quarters of cases result in no further action being taken. 

“[the Met’s capacity] is obviously not enough” 
- Yvonne Traynor, Chief Exec of Rape Crisis South London, speaking 
to the Police and Crime Committee on 8 September 2016 

P
age 105



4 

Prosecutions for sexual offences have slightly improved, but remain low 

• Reports of sexual offences continue to grow at a relatively 
steady rate each year. There were 80 per cent more reports in 
the year to March 2017 than five years ago.  

Source: MOPAC domestic and sexual violence dashboard  

Police and Crime Committee 

9.4 per cent increase 
in reports of sexual offences in the year to March 2017 
compared to the year to March 2016 

• The Met has more than doubled the number of 
sexual offence charges it makes every year from 
under 1,000 to now over 2,000 every year.  

• Action is now taken in 15 per cent of all sexual 
offence cases, from a low of 8 per cent in 2015.  

86 % 
14 % 

86 per cent of sexual 
offence victims are female 

 -

 2,000

 4,000

 6,000

 8,000

 10,000

 12,000

 14,000

 16,000

 18,000

 20,000

Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

Total
Sexual
offences

Rape

Annual 
running 
total 
reports 
of sexual 
offences 

P
age 106



5 

Knife and gun crimes are rising, and are a priority for the new Commissioner 

Source: MOPAC gangs dashboard & London Datastore 

Police and  Crime Committee 

• The sanction detection rate for gun crime has fallen 
drastically, from an average of 30 per cent in the year 
to March 2016, down to 19 per cent in the year to 
March 2017. 

Knife crime rose by 24 per cent in the last year 
(Annual rolling total year to March 17 compared to year to March 16)  

“I want to bear down on violent crime, in all 
its aspects from terrorism to sexual 
offences but definitely knife and gun crime, 
particularly as it affects young people.” 
- Cressida Dick, Metropolitan  Police Commissioner 

0
2000
4000
6000
8000

10000
12000
14000
16000
18000

Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

Knife crime

Of which
knife crime
with injury

Annual running total 

• In the year to March 2017 there were 4,412 instances of 
knife crime with injury. Just under half of these involved an 
under-25. 

• Gangs are often linked to knife crime, but MOPAC only 
recorded 1,372 gang-flagged offences in the same period. 
Whilst this may stem from under-reporting of gang violence 
it still suggests that knife crime is not just related to gangs. 

• The average sanction detection rate for knife crime hit 20 
per cent in the year to March 2017. Three years ago this 
was 27 per cent. 

0

500

1000

1500

2000

2500

3000

Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

Gun
crime

Of
which
gun
fired

Annual running total 
 

Gun crime rose by 44 per cent in the last year 
(Annual rolling total year to March 17 compared to year to March 16)  

P
age 107



Reports of hate crime continue to rise whilst sanction detection rates have halved 

Source: MOPAC hate crime dashboard 

Police and  Crime Committee 

• Sanction detection rates have been falling and now stand at 
14 per cent for the year to March 2017. This is half of the rate 
four years ago (29 per cent for the year to March 2013). The 
fall in sanction detection rate appears to correspond to the 
rise in reported cases. 

• Reports of hate crime continue to rise, as they have done for 
the last three years. 

• Reports of hate crime have increased by 19 per cent from the 
year to March 2017 compared to the year to March 2016. 

• All types of hate crime, including racist, Islamaphobic, disability 
and transgender, have risen. 

70 per cent of hate crimes in 
London are classed as racism 
(MOPAC Hate Crime dashboard) 

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

Annual 
running 
total hate 
crimes 
reported 

“Just as the police will do everything 
possible to root out extremism from our 
city, so we will take a zero-tolerance 
approach to hate crime.” 
- Sadiq Khan, Mayor of London 

Racist

Faith

Sexual
Orientation

Islamophobic

Disability

Anti-Semitic

Transgender

0% 20% 40% 60% 80%

Hate
crime
by
type,
annual
rolling
total
for the
year to
March
2017

P
age 108



7 

Despite reports of antisocial behaviour to the police falling, it is a priority for the Met  

Police and  Crime Committee 

• Calls to the police about antisocial behaviour (ASB) have 
been steadily falling over the past eight years. It is unclear if 
this means reports are being made to other agencies 
instead.  

• Reports of ASB tend to peak in summer months.  

Source: London Datastore and ONSEW Perceptions  

0% 2% 4% 6% 8% 10%

East Midlands
South West
South East

East of England
North East

Wales
England

North West
Yorkshire and The Humber

London
West Midlands

Londoners tend to be more concerned about 
ASB than those in other regions 

 Perception 
• London is the second most worried region in England and Wales 

for ASB. However, ASB still ranks low amongst Londoners’ 
concerns, behind drugs, violent crime, burglary and others.  

Reports of ASB to the police are falling, but peak in the 
summer months 

 -

 10,000

 20,000

 30,000

 40,000

 50,000

 60,000

 70,000

Mar-09 Mar-11 Mar-13 Mar-15 Mar-17

ASB Environmental

ASB Nuisance

ASB Personal

87 per cent of ASB calls are for nuisance behaviour 

Definitions of ASB Environmental, Nuisance and Personal - Hyperlink 

P
age 109

https://www.psni.police.uk/globalassets/inside-the-psni/our-statistics/anti-social-behaviour-statistics/asb_definitions_introduced_april_2011.pdf


8 

The use of stop and search has dramatically reduced over time 

Police and  Crime Committee 

• The use of stop and search has gone down 
in London, with stops more than halving in 
the three years between March 2014 and 
March 2017. The arrest rate is now 20 per 
cent, double that of five years ago.   

New Commissioner, new direction 
• The Commissioner has said that she 

supports the use of “intelligence led” stop 
and search in the face of London’s growing 
knife crime problem.  

• Some are concerned about race relations 
and that stop and search “alienates 
communities”.1 In London a black person is 
still nearly four times as likely to be subject 
to stop and search than a white person. 

Source: London Datastore, Police.uk, ONS Census 2011 and MOPAC intrusive tactics 
dashboard 

0

1

2

3

4

Asian Black Other White

Monthly number of stops per 1,000 citizens (March 2017) 

Drugs 61% 
Stolen Property 15% 
Weapons 13% 
Going Equipped 9% 
Other 1% 
Criminal Damage 1% 
Terrorism 1% 

1 – Simon Wooley, former commissioner for race at Equality and Human Rights Commission, 
speaking to Evening Standard, 20 May 2017 

What are people stopped for? 
(all stop & search)  

0

5,000

10,000

15,000

20,000

25,000

30,000

35,000

Mar-13 Mar-14 Mar-15 Mar-16 Mar-17

Fall in stop and search over the last five years  
(annual rolling total) 

P
age 110



Police officer numbers have fallen to around 31,000 

• Police officer numbers have stabilised at 31,000 after falling over the last 
two years.  

• The Mayor has acknowledged that reaching his strategic target of 32,000 
Police Officers will not be possible in 2017-18. MOPAC has removed £38 
million from the police officer budget, although it plans to put this money 
back in in 2018-19.  

Source: London Datastore 

Police and  Crime Committee 

 30,000.00

 30,500.00

 31,000.00

 31,500.00

 32,000.00

 32,500.00

Feb-13 Feb-14 Feb-15 Feb-16 Feb-17

Changes to the recruitment of 
detectives  
The Met faces a shortage of 
detectives. To address this it has 
recently introduced a direct entry 
recruitment programme.  

Previously Detectives would have had 
to have served as a Police Constable 
before being eligible to apply. 
Successful applicants  to the 
programme will be placed on an 18-
month programme to develop the 
skills and knowledge required. 

What is the future of police 
numbers in London? 
Officer numbers could change further, 
after the Government completes its 
work on a new method for allocating 
funding to police forces. Both the 
Mayor and this Committee have 
called on the Government to ensure 
any funding decisions properly reflect 
the needs of the capital. 

Police officer numbers have stabilised, following a reduction in recent years 

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank

P
age 112


	Agenda
	2 Declarations of Interests
	3 Minutes
	Minutes - Appendix 1 - Transcript of Q&A

	4 Summary List of Actions
	5 Action Taken Under Delegated Authority
	Appendix 1 - PCC annual report 16-17 - final

	6 Question and Answer Session with the Mayor's Office for Policing and Crime and the Metropolitan Police Service
	Appendix 1 - MOPAC monthly  report - PCC 20 July 2017
	4    Financial Performance report


	7 Police and Crime Committee Work Programme
	Appendix 1 - scoping paper - gun crime - Copy
	Appendix 2 - Scoping paper - women offenders
	Appendix 3 - PCC Quarterly Monitoring Report (to March 17)
	Slide Number 1
	Slide Number 2
	Slide Number 3
	Slide Number 4
	Slide Number 5
	Slide Number 6
	Slide Number 7
	Slide Number 8
	Slide Number 9





